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PART I

ITEM 1. Business

The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc. and subsidiaries (the ""Company'') is a leading provider of
recovery audit, expense containment and knowledge application services to large and mid-size businesses
having numerous payment transactions with many vendors. These businesses include, but are not limited to,
the following:

‚ retailers such as discount, department, specialty, grocery and drug stores;

‚ manufacturers of pharmaceuticals, consumer electronics, chemicals and aerospace and medical
products;

‚ wholesale distributors of computer components, food products and pharmaceuticals; and

‚ healthcare providers such as hospitals and health maintenance organizations.

In businesses with large purchase volumes and continuously Öuctuating prices, some small percentage of
erroneous overpayments to vendors is inevitable. Although these businesses process the vast majority of
payment transactions correctly, a small number of errors do occur. In the aggregate, these transaction errors
can represent meaningful ""lost proÑts'' that can be particularly signiÑcant for businesses with relatively narrow
proÑt margins. The Company's trained, experienced industry specialists use sophisticated proprietary technol-
ogy and advanced recovery techniques and methodologies to identify overpayments to vendors and tax
authorities. In addition, these specialists review clients' current practices and processes related to procurement
and other expenses in order to identify solutions to manage and reduce expense levels, as well as apply
knowledge and expertise of industry best practices to assist clients in improving their business eÇciencies.

In most instances, the Company receives a contractual percentage of overpayments and other savings it
identiÑes and its clients recover or realize. In other instances, the Company receives a fee for speciÑc services
provided.

In March 2001, the Company formalized a strategic realignment initiative designed to enhance the
Company's Ñnancial position and clarify its investment and operating strategy by focusing primarily on its core
Accounts Payable business. Under this strategic realignment initiative, the Company will divest of the
following non-core businesses: Meridian VAT Reclaim (""Meridian'') within the former Taxation Services
segment, the Logistics Management Services segment, the Communications Services segment and the Ship
and Debit (""Ship & Debit'') division within the Accounts Payable Services segment. The Company's
consolidated Ñnancial statements have been restated to reÖect Meridian, Logistics Management Services,
Communications Services, and the Ship & Debit division as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
Unless otherwise speciÑcally stated, all Ñnancial and statistical information contained herein is presented with
respect to continuing operations only.

The Company currently services approximately 2,500 clients in over 33 diÅerent countries outside the
United States. The Company's continuing operations have two distinct operating segments consisting of
Accounts Payable Services and French Taxation Services. Each segment represents a strategic business unit
that oÅers diÅerent types of recovery and cost containment services. See Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K for the worldwide operating segment disclosures.

The following discussion includes ""forward-looking'' statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are at times identiÑed by words
such as ""plans,'' ""intends,'' ""expects,'' or ""anticipates'' and words of similar eÅect and include statements
regarding the Company's Ñnancial and operating plans and goals. These forward-looking statements include
any statements that cannot be assessed until the occurrence of a future event or events. Actual results may
diÅer materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements due to a variety of factors, including
but not limited to those discussed herein and below under ""Risk Factors''.
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The Recovery Audit Industry

Businesses with substantial volumes of payment transactions involving multiple vendors, numerous
discounts and allowances, Öuctuating prices and complex tax and pricing arrangements Ñnd it diÇcult to
detect all payment errors. Although these businesses process the vast majority of payment transactions
correctly, a small number of errors occur principally because of communication failures between the
purchasing and accounts payable departments, complex pricing arrangements, personnel turnover and changes
in information and accounting systems. These errors include vendor pricing errors, missed or inaccurate
discounts, allowances and rebates, incorrect freight charges and duplicate payments. In the aggregate, these
transaction errors can represent meaningful lost proÑts that can be particularly signiÑcant for businesses with
relatively narrow proÑt margins. For example, the Company believes that a typical U.S. retailer makes
payment errors that are not discovered internally, which in the aggregate can range from several hundred
thousand dollars to more than $1.0 million per billion dollars of revenues.

Although some businesses routinely maintain internal recovery audit departments assigned to recover
selected types of payment errors and identify opportunities to reduce costs, independent recovery audit Ñrms
are often retained as well due to their specialized knowledge and focused technologies.

In the U.S., Canada, and Mexico large retailers routinely engage independent recovery audit Ñrms as
standard business practice, and businesses in other industries are increasingly using independent recovery audit
Ñrms. Outside the U.S., Canada, and Mexico, the Company believes that large retailers and many other types
of businesses are also increasingly engaging independent recovery audit Ñrms.

Businesses are increasing the use of technology to manage complex accounts payable systems and realize
greater operating eÇciencies. Many businesses worldwide communicate with vendors electronically to
exchange inventory and sales data, transmit purchase orders, submit invoices, forward shipping and receiving
information, and remit payments. These paperless transactions are widely referred to as Electronic Data
Interchange, or ""EDI'', and implementation of this technology is maturing. EDI streamlines processing large
numbers of transactions, but does not eliminate payment errors because operator input errors may be
replicated automatically in thousands of transactions. EDI systems typically generate signiÑcantly more
individual transaction details in electronic form, making these transactions easier to audit than traditional
paper-based accounts payable systems. Recovery audit Ñrms, however, require sophisticated technology in
order to audit EDI accounts payable processes eÅectively.

The Company believes that current global business-to-business e-commerce initiatives involving the
internet will ultimately provide technologically-advanced independent recovery audit Ñrms with recovery
opportunities that may exceed those existing when EDI is employed solely as a data communications medium.
Factors contributing to the Company's belief include the following:

‚ Extensible Markup Language (""XML''), a set of rules for deÑning and sharing document types over
the internet, provides a communications framework, but until data type deÑnitions are established for
each industry, errors due to inconsistent data treatments may be prevalent. We believe the establish-
ment of industry-speciÑc data type deÑnitions is not at advanced stages for most industries.

‚ EDI use has primarily been conÑned to large business entities and their suppliers. XML may
eventually be utilized by businesses both large and small, thus facilitating electronic data bases of
individual procurement transactions which may then be audited electronically. Presently, many small
and mid-size businesses still procure large portions of their goods and services using paper-based
documents which are not as cost eÅective to audit as those in an electronic format.

The Company believes that many businesses are increasingly outsourcing internal recovery functions to
independent recovery audit Ñrms. Factors contributing to this trend include the following:

‚ a need for signiÑcant investments in technology, especially in an EDI environment, which the
Company believes are greater than even large businesses can often justify;

‚ an inability to duplicate the breadth of industry and auditing expertise of independent recovery audit
Ñrms;
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‚ a desire to focus limited resources on core competencies; and

‚ a desire for larger and more timely recoveries.

The domestic and international recovery audit industry is characterized by several large and many small,
local and regional Ñrms. Many local and regional recovery audit Ñrms lack the centralized resources or broad
client base to support technology investments required to provide comprehensive recovery audit services for
large, complex accounts payable systems. These Ñrms are less equipped to audit large EDI accounts payable
systems. In addition, because of limited resources, most of these Ñrms subcontract work to third parties and
may lack experience and the knowledge of national promotions, seasonal allowances and current recovery
audit practices. As a result, the Company believes signiÑcant opportunities exist for recovery audit Ñrms with a
national and international presence, well-trained and experienced professionals, and the advanced technology
required to audit increasingly complex accounts payable systems.

In recent years, the Company has seen increasing competition from the consulting arms of the Ñve largest
international accounting Ñrms (the ""Big 5''). Historically, the Big 5 have been precluded from providing
signiÑcant levels of recovery audit services due to the potential for conÖicts of interest with audit clients.
Additionally, the Big 5 have relied primarily on fee-based arrangements versus the predominant contingency
model associated with recovery audit services. Since January 2000, three of the Big 5 have spun oÅ, sold or
otherwise granted separate independence to their management consulting units and one other has announced
its intention to eventually eÅect a similar separation. With the potential for conÖicts of interest substantially
reduced, the Company believes that newly independent Big 5 consulting units may become formidable
competitors in the future.

The ProÑt Recovery Group Solution

The Company provides its domestic and international clients with comprehensive recovery audit, expense
containment and knowledge application services by using sophisticated proprietary technology and advanced
techniques and methodologies, and by employing highly trained, experienced industry specialists. As a result,
the Company believes it is able to identify signiÑcantly more payment errors and expense containment
opportunities than many of its competitors. The Company's technology provides uniform platforms for its
auditors to oÅer consistent and proven audit techniques and methodologies based on a client's size, industry or
geographic scope of operations. By leveraging its technology investment across a large client base, the
Company is able to continue developing proprietary software tools and expand its technology leadership in the
recovery audit industry.

The Company is a leader in developing and utilizing sophisticated software audit tools and techniques
that enhance the identiÑcation and recovery of payment errors.

The Company is also a leader in establishing new recovery audit practices to reÖect evolving industry
trends. The Company's auditors are highly trained and many have joined the Company from Ñnance-related
management positions in the industries the Company serves. To support its auditors, the Company provides
data processing, marketing, training and administrative services.

The ProÑt Recovery Group Strategy

The Company's objective is to be the leading worldwide provider of recovery audit, expense containment
and knowledge application services. Its strategy to achieve this objective consists of the following elements:

‚ Expand International Operations. Through a combination of opening new oÇces, expanding reve-
nues within existing oÇces and acquiring other international audit Ñrms, the Company has grown its
non-United States revenues from continuing operations from negligible amounts in the early 1990s to
34.7% of consolidated worldwide revenues in 2000. Long-lived assets from continuing operations in
foreign countries have grown to 27.7% of consolidated long-lived assets. During 2001, the Company
intends to continue to emphasize the expansion of its existing client base.
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‚ Continue to Grow the Core U.S. Accounts Payable Business. The Company will continue to focus on
retaining and growing its core U.S. accounts payable business by creating a customer-centric
organization, maximizing its use of technology, and leveraging the best skilled auditors.

‚ Maintain High Client Retention Rates. The Company has historically maintained very high rates of
client retention. The Company intends to maintain and improve its high client retention rates by
providing comprehensive recovery audit services, utilizing highly trained auditors, and continuing to
reÑne its advanced audit technology.

‚ Maintain Technology Leadership. The Company believes its proprietary technology provides a
signiÑcant competitive advantage, especially in audits involving the more sophisticated accounts
payable systems. The Company intends to continue making substantial investments in technology,
including ongoing e-commerce initiatives, to maintain its leadership position and systems capabilities.

‚ Promote Outsourcing Arrangements. The Company seeks to capitalize on the growing trend of
businesses to outsource internal recovery audit and expense containment eÅorts. The Company
believes that its clients beneÑt signiÑcantly from these outsourcing arrangements because the Company
generally completes its audits more quickly, identiÑes larger claims and executes on cost-saving
opportunities more eÇciently than internal recovery audit departments. The Company further believes
that as clients continue to upgrade their systems, outsourcing arrangements involving recovery audit
work will become increasingly prevalent due in part to the absence of traditional ""audit trail''
documents.

‚ Pursue Strategic Acquisitions. The Company intends to pursue making a limited number of strategic
acquisitions.

The ProÑt Recovery Group Services

In March 2001, the Company formalized a strategic realignment initiative designed to enhance the
Company's Ñnancial position and clarify its investment and operating strategy by focusing primarily on its core
Accounts Payable business. Under this strategic realignment initiative, the Company will divest of the
following non-core businesses: Meridian VAT Reclaim within the former Taxation Services segment, the
Logistics Management Services segment, the Communications Services segment and the Ship & Debit
division within the Accounts Payable Services segment. The Company's consolidated Ñnancial statements
have been restated to reÖect Meridian, Logistics Management Services, Communications Service, and Ship &
Debit as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Continuing Operations

The Company currently conducts its continuing operations through two operational segments as follows:

Relative Percentage of Consolidated
Operational Segments Worldwide Revenues During 2000

Accounts Payable Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 85.9%
French Taxation Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.1%

100.0%

Accounts Payable Services

Through the use of proprietary technology, audit techniques and methodologies, the Company's trained
and experienced auditors examine merchandise procurement records on a post-payment basis to identify
overpayments resulting from duplicate payments, missed discounts, allowances, rebates and other forms of
pricing concessions oÅered by vendors.

The Accounts Payable Services segment serves two client types, with each type currently having diÅerent
service delivery characteristics.
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Services provided to retail and wholesale clients are currently the Company's largest worldwide source of
revenues. These services typically recur annually and are largely predictable in terms of estimating the dollar
volume of client overpayments which will be ultimately recovered. For most retail/wholesale clients, the
Company typically identiÑes a larger volume of recoveries each year when compared to recoveries realized in
the immediate preceding year. This growth generally results from factors such as increasing sophistication of
the Company's auditors and software, and continuing client migration toward electronic merchandise
procurements which the Company can more thoroughly audit. The Company currently serves retail/wholesale
clients on six continents.

The Company also examines merchandise procurements and other payments made by business entities
such as manufacturers, distributors and healthcare providers which are collectively termed as ""commercial
clients.'' Services to these types of clients tend to be more rotational in nature with diÅerent divisions of a
given client often audited in pre-arranged annual sequences. Accordingly, revenues derived from a given client
may change markedly from year-to-year depending on factors such as the size and nature of the client division
under audit. The Company's capabilities to serve commercial clients have been formed primarily from the
combined operations of Loder, Drew & Associates, Inc. (acquired August 1998) and PRS International, Ltd.
(""PRS'') (acquired August 1999). Currently, the majority of the Company's commercial clients are located
in North America, although expansion to other continents is planned.

French Taxation Services

The Company began oÅering tax recovery audit services in France with the October 1997 acquisition of
Financi fiere Alma S.A. and subsidiaries (""Alma''). These services include the identiÑcation and recovery of tax
overpayments involving business and personal property, workers compensation and real property.

In October 1999, the Company acquired AP SA and its subsidiaries (collectively, ""Groupe AP'') which
provides services similar to Alma's in France. Groupe AP along with Novexel S.A. (acquired July 1998) and
IP Strategies, SA (acquired November 1998), which assist clients in securing available European grants and
subsidies, are operated under the auspices of Alma.

The services provided by units within the French Taxation Services division tend to be based upon
discrete projects that are typically non-recurring in nature.

Discontinued Operations

The Company has operations which it plans to divest within the following specialty areas:

Meridian VAT Reclaim

In August 1999, the Company acquired Meridian VAT Corporation Limited (""Meridian''). Meridian is
based in Ireland and specializes in the recovery of value-added taxes (""VAT'') paid on business expenses for
corporate clients located throughout the world. The services provided to clients by Meridian are typically
recurring in nature.

Logistics Management Services

Assembled through a series of six business acquisitions completed between 1997 and 1999, the
Company's Logistics Management Services operations now maintains the capability to audit on a post-
payment or pre-payment basis freight shipment transactions involving air, express, rail, surface and routing
compliance and to provide payment services. The Company currently utilizes specialized personnel and
sophisticated audit software for each separate freight transportation mode. IdentiÑed overpayments relate to
such items as duplicate payments, refunds due for late deliveries and application of incorrect tariÅ rates. In
2000, the Company implemented a web-based platform to provide front-end reporting to clients over the
internet.

Logistics Management Services revenues are typically recurring in nature since freight payments are
usually examined on an ongoing basis once the Company has been engaged as a new client.
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Communications Services

The Communications Services division currently consists of the telecommunications expense recovery,
reduction and management unit which was formed by various acquisitions made by the Company. The
Communications Services division applies its specialized expertise to historical client telecommunications
records to identify and recover refunds of previous overpayments. It also analyzes its clients' current
telecommunications invoices, routing patterns and usage volumes in order to renegotiate terms and conditions
on its clients' behalf, as well as identify cost saving alternatives. The division also provides expense
management services such as invoice processing and call accounting.

Ship & Debit Division

The Ship & Debit division is a discrete unit within the Company's Accounts Payable Services segment.
The Ship & Debit division provides revenue maximization services to clients in the semiconductor industry
using a discrete group of specially trained auditors. Ship & Debit clients generally receive two audits each
year.

Client Contracts

The Company's typical client contract provides that the Company is entitled to a contractual percentage
of overpayments or other savings recovered for or realized by clients. Clients generally recover claims by either
(a) taking credits against outstanding payables or future purchases from the involved vendors, or (b) receiving
refund checks directly from those vendors. The method of eÅecting a recovery is often dictated by industry
practice. For some services, the client contract provides that the Company is entitled to a fee for the rendering
of that service.

In addition to client contracts, many clients establish speciÑc procedural guidelines that the Company
must satisfy prior to submitting claims for client approval. These guidelines are unique to each client.

The Company recognizes revenue on the invoice basis. Clients are invoiced when it has been determined
that they have received economic value, (generally through credits taken against existing accounts payable
due to the involved vendors or refund checks received from these vendors) and when the following criteria are
met: (a) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (b) services have been rendered; (c) the fee billed to
the client is Ñxed or determinable and (d) collectibility is reasonably assured.

Technology

The Company employs a variety of proprietary audit tools, proprietary databases and Company-owned
data processing facilities in its business. Each of the Company's two operating segments which comprise
continuing operations, as well as the operations that the Company plans to divest, employ separate technology.

Continuing Operations

Accounts Payable Services Audit Technology

At the beginning of a typical accounts payable recovery audit engagement, the Company obtains
transaction data from its client for the time period under audit. The Company receives this data typically by
magnetic media, which is then reformatted into standardized and proprietary layouts at one of the Company's
data processing facilities using the following:

‚ IBM AS 400 midrange computers;

‚ Windows NT and OS/2 Warp Connect servers; and

‚ other PC-based platforms.

The Company's experienced programmers then prepare statistical reports to verify the completeness and
accuracy of the data. The Company delivers this reformatted data to its auditors who, using the Company's
proprietary PC-based Ñeld audit software, sort, Ñlter and search the data for overpayments. The Company also
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produces client-speciÑc standard reports and statistical data for its auditors. These reports and data often
reveal patterns of activity or unusual relationships suggestive of potential overpayment situations.

The Company has developed and continuously updates and reÑnes its proprietary accounts payable
databases to assist it in providing recovery audit services to its domestic retail/wholesale clients. These
databases serve as a central repository reÖecting its auditors' experiences, vendor practices and knowledge of
regional and national pricing information, including seasonal allowances, discounts and rebates. These
proprietary databases, however, do not include conÑdential client information. Auditors use these databases to
identify discounts, allowances and other pricing information not previously detected.

French Taxation Services Audit Technology

The Company's France-based corporate tax recovery and grant procurement operations employ a variety
of sophisticated proprietary processes, databases and PC-based software. Specialists continually review and
analyze tax developments and grant availabilities to identify opportunities. Once identiÑed, these opportunities
are matched by computer to appropriate database attributes of both clients and non-clients to identify those
who might beneÑt. Additional proprietary software and processes are subsequently used to develop, Ñle and
track tax claims and grant applications.

Discontinued Operations

Meridian VAT Reclaim Technology

Meridian utilizes a proprietary software application that assists business clients in the reclaiming of value-
added taxes (""VAT''). The functionality of the software includes paper Öow monitoring, Ñnancial and
managerial reporting and Electronic Data Interchange. The paper Öow monitoring reÖects all stages of the
reclaim business process from logging in claims received to printing out checks due to clients. The reporting
system produces reports that measure the Ñnancial and managerial information for each stage of the business
process.

Logistics Management Services Audit Technology

The Company's logistics audit activities and clients are currently concentrated in the United States.
Discrete sub-units of specialized personnel and systems are dedicated to speciÑc transportation modes such as
ocean, overnight air, truck and rail freight. In 2000, the Company implemented a web-based platform to
provide front-end reporting to clients over the internet.

Communications Services Audit Technology

Although various proprietary processes and databases are used to conduct telecommunications audits,
this segment currently relies heavily upon the industry and vendor knowledge possessed by its audit personnel
in its expense recovery and reduction service oÅerings. Delivery of expense management services, particularly
call accounting, is more technologically-driven.

Communications Services utilizes a proprietary web-based software which provides the client with
information from the services delivered. The proprietary software is used to facilitate charge back reporting,
processing of client invoices and for reporting status on claims and recoveries. Additional proprietary software
is used to facilitate data acquisition and production processing allowing for expedient and eÅective manage-
ment of the data which results in cost eÇciencies.

Auditor Hiring and Training

Many of the Company's auditors and specialists formerly held Ñnance-related management positions in
the industries the Company serves. To meet its growing need for additional auditors, the Company also hires
recent college graduates, particularly those with multi-lingual capabilities. While the Company has been able
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to hire a suÇcient number of new auditors to support its growth, there can be no assurance that the Company
can continue hiring suÇcient numbers of qualiÑed auditors to meet its future needs.

The Company provides intensive training for auditors utilizing both classroom-type training and self-
paced media such as specialized computer-based training modules. All training programs are periodically
upgraded based on feedback from auditors and changing industry protocols. Additional on-the-job training
provided by experienced auditors enhances the structured training programs and enables newly hired auditors
to reÑne their skills.

Client Base

The Company provides its services principally to large and mid-sized businesses having numerous
payment transactions with many vendors. Retailers/wholesalers continue to constitute an important part of the
Company's client and revenue base. None of the Company's clients individually represented 10% or greater of
the Company's consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Seasonality

The Company has experienced and expects to continue to experience signiÑcant seasonality in its
business. The Company typically realizes substantially higher revenues and operating income in the last two
quarters of its Ñscal year.

Sales and Marketing

Each of the Company's two operating segments which comprise continuing operations, as well as each
major component of the discontinued operations maintains a relatively autonomous sales and marketing
function. Due to the highly conÑdential and proprietary nature of a business' purchasing patterns and
procurement prices combined with the typical desire to maximize the amount of funds recovered, most
prospective clients conduct an extensive investigation prior to selecting a speciÑc recovery audit Ñrm. This type
of investigation may include an on-site inspection of the Company's service facilities. The Company has
typically found that its service oÅerings which are the most annuity-like in nature require the longest sales
cycle and highest levels of direct person-to-person contact. Conversely, service oÅerings that are short-term,
discrete events such as certain taxation projects are susceptible to more cost eÅective sales and marketing
delivery approaches such as telemarketing.

Proprietary Rights

The Company continuously develops new recovery audit software and enhances existing proprietary
software. The Company regards its proprietary software as protected by trade secret and copyright laws of
general applicability. In addition, the Company attempts to safeguard its software through employee and
third-party nondisclosure agreements and other methods of protection. While the Company's competitive
position may be aÅected by its ability to protect its software and other proprietary information, the Company
believes that the protection aÅorded by trade secret and copyright laws is less signiÑcant to the Company's
success than the continued pursuit and implementation of its operating strategies and other factors such as the
knowledge, ability and experience of its personnel.

The Company owns or has rights to various copyrights, trademarks and trade names used in the
Company's business, including but not limited to AuditPro»�, eassuranceTM, EAuditTM, FreightProTM,
ImageProTM, RecoverNow», ReportProTM and SentinelTM.
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Competition

The recovery audit business is highly competitive and barriers to entry are relatively low. The competitive
factors aÅecting the market for the Company's recovery audit services include:

‚ establishing and maintaining client relationships;

‚ quality and quantity of claims identiÑed;

‚ experience and professionalism of audit staÅ;

‚ rates for services;

‚ technology; and

‚ geographic scope of operations.

The Company's principal competitors for accounts payable recovery audit services include many local
and regional Ñrms and one Ñrm, Howard Schultz & Associates, Inc., with operations in the U.S. and abroad.
The Company's competitors with respect to its French Taxation Services segment include major international
accounting Ñrms, tax attorneys and several smaller tax recovery audit Ñrms.

In recent years, the Company has seen increasing competition from the consulting arms of the Ñve largest
international accounting Ñrms (the ""Big 5''). Historically, the Big 5 have been precluded from providing
signiÑcant levels of recovery audit services due to the potential for conÖicts of interest with audit clients.
Additionally, the Big 5 have relied primarily on fee-based arrangements versus the predominant contingency
model associated with recovery audit services. Since January 2000, three of the Big 5 have spun oÅ, sold or
otherwise granted separate independence to their management consulting units and one other has announced
its intention to eventually eÅect a similar separation. With the potential for conÖicts of interest substantially
reduced, the Company believes that newly independent Big 5 consulting units may become formidable
competitors in the future.

Employees

At December 31, 2000, the Company had approximately 2,500 employees dedicated to continuing
operations, and 800 dedicated to discontinued operations, of whom 1,400 and 600, respectively, were located in
the U.S. The majority of the Company's employees are involved in the audit function. The Company believes
its employee relations are good.

Since the Company conducted its operations in a highly decentralized manner during 2000, each of the
respective discontinued operations is essentially a discrete operation typically employing its own sales,
marketing, Ñnance and human resources personnel.
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RISK FACTORS

Our Announced Planned Divestitures May Not Achieve Anticipated BeneÑts

We have previously announced the planned divestiture of our Meridian VAT Reclaim business, our
Communications Services segment, our Logistics Management Services segment and our Ship & Debit
division within the Accounts Payable Services segment. Although we are currently proceeding to complete
these divestitures, there is no guaranty that they can be completed on a timely basis, if at all, or that the
businesses to be divested can be disposed of at the prices we anticipate. If we are unable to divest these
businesses, if the timing of the divestitures exceeds that anticipated, or if the prices received in the divestitures
are lower than expected, we may not achieve the anticipated beneÑts. For example, we may incur additional
losses upon consummation of the divestitures, we may not realize the cost savings anticipated as a result of the
divestitures and management's time and attention may be diverted to a greater degree than expected. Any of
these events or others could have a material adverse impact on the Company's business, results of operations
and liquidity. In addition, the announced intention to dispose of these businesses may result in a diminished
value of the assets to be divested through, for example, the loss of customers or key personnel employed by
such businesses and therefore diminish expected operating results in these businesses.

Annual Cost Savings of Between $5 Million and $8 Million as a Result of Planned Reductions in Corporate
Overhead May Not Be Achieved

We have announced our intention to reduce overhead expenses in our Atlanta headquarters oÇce. As a
result of this planned reduction, we expect to realize annualized cost savings in continuing operations in 2001
of approximately $5 million to $8 million. Failure to achieve these cost savings as expected could have a
material adverse impact on our expected results of operations and liquidity. Although the cost savings are
expected to come from a combination of reductions in personnel and other overhead expenses resulting from a
streamlining of corporate support responsibilities, changes in accounts payable growth patterns and varying
economic conditions could result in unexpected personnel needs or payroll requirements, therefore diminishing
expected annualized cost savings.

An Adverse Judgment in the Securities Action Litigation in Which the Company and John M. Cook are
Defendants Could Have a Material Adverse EÅect on Our Results of Operations and Liquidity

We and John M. Cook are defendants in three putative class action lawsuits Ñled on June 6, 2000 in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, Atlanta Division, which have since been
consolidated into one proceeding (the ""Securities Class Action Litigation''). A judgment against us in this
case could have a material adverse eÅect on our results of operations and liquidity, while a judgment against
Mr. Cook could adversely aÅect his Ñnancial condition and therefore have a negative impact upon his
performance as our chief executive oÇcer. PlaintiÅs in the Securities Class Action Litigation have alleged in
general terms that the defendants violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by allegedly disseminating materially false and misleading informa-
tion about a change in our method of recognizing revenue and in connection with revenue reported for a
division. The plaintiÅs further allege that these misstatements and omissions led to an artiÑcially inÖated price
for our common stock during the putative class period which runs from July 19, 1999 to July 26, 2000. This
case seeks an unspeciÑed amount of compensatory damages, payment of litigation fees and expenses, and
equitable and/or injunctive relief. Although we believe the alleged claims in this lawsuit are without merit and
intend to defend the lawsuit vigorously, due to the inherent uncertainties of the litigation process and the
judicial system, we are unable to predict the outcome of this litigation.

If We Cannot Integrate Acquired Companies with Our Business, Our ProÑtability May Be Adversely
AÅected

We may be unable to successfully integrate acquired businesses and realize anticipated economic,
operational and other beneÑts in a timely manner. Integration of an acquired business is especially diÇcult
when we acquire a business that is signiÑcant in size as compared to us, or that operates in a market in which

10



we have limited or no expertise, or with a corporate culture diÅerent from ours. If we are unable to
successfully integrate acquired businesses, we may incur substantial costs and delays or other operational,
technical or Ñnancial problems. In addition, the failure to successfully integrate acquisitions may divert
management's attention from our existing business and may damage our relationships with our key clients and
employees.

Acquisitions May Decrease Our Shareholders' Percentage Ownership in PRG and Require Us to Incur
Additional Debt

We may issue equity securities in future acquisitions that could be dilutive to our shareholders. We also
may incur additional debt and amortization expense related to goodwill and other intangible assets in future
acquisitions. This additional debt and amortization expense may reduce signiÑcantly our proÑtability and
materially and adversely aÅect our business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations.

We May Not Be Able to Continue to Identify a Larger Volume of Recoveries each Year for the Clients
Served by Our Retail/Wholesale Operations

For most clients served by our retail/wholesale operations, we typically identify a larger volume of
recoveries each year when compared to recoveries realized in the immediately preceding year. There is no
guaranty, however, that these larger recoveries will continue. If such recovery increases do not continue, the
Company's revenues and operating results would be materially adversely aÅected. Factors that could prevent
recoveries from increasing include, but are not limited to, unexpected advances in technology which
signiÑcantly reduce the levels of client overpayments and the unexpected reversal of current trends toward the
outsourcing of non-core competencies such as recovery audit services.

Strikes or Other Employment Disruptions by or on the Part of Employees of Foreign Governments with
Whom the Company's French Taxation Services Division Transacts Business Could Have a Material
Adverse EÅect on the Revenues Generated by the Company's French Taxation Services Division

Any strike or other disruption of employment by or on the part of the employees of the French
government with whom the Company's French Taxation Services division transacts business could signiÑ-
cantly delay the recognition of revenue by the French Taxation Services division and cause the Company to
fail to achieve its revenue and earnings estimates for one or more quarters or perhaps for an entire Ñscal year.

Client and Vendor Bankruptcies Could Reduce Our Earnings

The Company's clients generally operate in intensely competitive environments and bankruptcy Ñlings are
not uncommon. Future bankruptcy Ñlings by one or more of our larger clients could have a material adverse
eÅect on our business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations.

We Depend on Certain Clients for SigniÑcant Revenues

With the Company's considerable growth and diversiÑcation of services since its March 1996 initial
public oÅering, dependence on any one client or group of clients for revenue and proÑts has been reduced.
Nevertheless, the Company's largest revenue generating clients continue to be retailers, and the Company's
revenues and proÑtability would be materially adversely aÅected if one or more of its largest retail clients Ñled
for bankruptcy or otherwise ceased to do business with us.

We Rely on International Operations for SigniÑcant Revenues

Approximately 34.7% of the Company's revenues from continuing operations was generated from
international operations in 2000. International operations are subject to risks, including:

‚ Öuctuations in political and economic instability;

‚ diÇculties in staÇng and managing foreign operations and in collecting accounts receivable;
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‚ Öuctuations in currency exchange rates, particularly weaknesses in the Euro, the pound and other
currencies of countries in which we transact business, which could result in currency translations that
materially reduce our revenues and earnings per share;

‚ costs associated with adapting our services to our foreign clients' needs;

‚ unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and laws;

‚ diÇculties in transferring earnings from our foreign subsidiaries to us; and

‚ burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and labor practices, including laws that could
subject certain tax recovery audit practices to regulation as the unauthorized practice of law.

Because a signiÑcant portion of our revenues come from international operations, the occurrence of any of
the above events could materially and adversely aÅect our business, Ñnancial condition and results of
operations.

Recovery Audit Services Are Not Widely Used in International Markets

We rely heavily on international expansion to achieve our long-term growth objectives. Although our
recovery audit services constitute a generally accepted business practice among retailers in the U.S., Canada,
and Mexico, our services have not yet become widely used in many international markets. Prospective clients,
vendors or other involved parties in foreign markets may not accept our services. The failure of these parties to
accept and use our services could have a material adverse eÅect on our business, Ñnancial condition and results
of operations.

We Require SigniÑcant Management and Financial Resources to Operate and Expand Our Recovery Audit
Services Internationally

In our experience, entry into new international markets requires considerable management time as well as
start-up expenses for market development, hiring and establishing oÇce facilities. In addition, we have
encountered, and expect to continue to encounter, signiÑcant expense and delays in expanding our interna-
tional operations because of language and cultural diÅerences, staÇng, communications and related issues.
We generally incur the costs associated with international expansion before any signiÑcant revenues are
generated. As a result, initial operations in a new market typically operate at low margins or may be
unproÑtable. Because our international expansion strategy will require substantial Ñnancial resources, we may
incur additional indebtedness or issue additional equity securities which could be dilutive to our shareholders.
In addition, Ñnancing for international expansion may not be available to us on acceptable terms and
conditions.

Our Revenue May Be Adversely AÅected if We Do Not Correctly Estimate Our Uncollectible Accounts
Receivable

We estimate uncollectible levels of accounts receivable on an aggregate basis and reduce earnings
quarterly by the amounts of these estimates. Despite our experience in providing accounts payable recovery
audit services, our estimates of uncollectible accounts receivable may not be adequate. If we overestimate the
amount of accounts receivable we expect to collect, then our future earnings will be reduced, and, as a result,
our stock price could decline.

The Level of Our ProÑtability Is Determined by Our Third and Fourth Quarter Operating Results

The purchasing and operational cycles of our clients typically cause us to realize higher revenues and
operating income in the last two quarters of our Ñscal year. If we do not continue to realize increased revenues
in future third and fourth quarter periods, our proÑtability for any aÅected quarter and the entire year could be
materially and adversely aÅected because ongoing selling, general and administrative expenses are largely
Ñxed over the short term.
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We May Be Unable to Protect and Maintain the Competitive Advantage of Our Proprietary Technology and
Intellectual Property Rights

Our operations could be materially and adversely aÅected if we are not adequately able to protect our
proprietary software, audit techniques and methodologies, and other proprietary intellectual property rights.
We rely on a combination of trade secret laws, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements and
technical measures to protect our proprietary rights. Although we presently hold U.S. and foreign registered
trademarks and U.S. registered copyrights on certain of our proprietary technology, we may be unable to
obtain similar protection on our other intellectual property. In addition, in the case of foreign registered
trademarks, we may not receive the same enforcement protection on our intellectual property as in the U.S.
We generally enter into conÑdentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, clients and potential
clients and limit access to, and distribution of, our proprietary information. Nevertheless, we may be unable to
deter misappropriation of our proprietary information, detect unauthorized use and take appropriate steps to
enforce our intellectual property rights. Our competitors also may independently develop technologies that are
substantially equivalent or superior to our technology. Although we believe that our services and products do
not infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, we can not prevent someone else from asserting a
claim against us in the future for violating their technology rights.

Our Failure to Retain the Services of Mr. Cook Could Adversely Impact Our Continued Success

Our continued success depends largely on the eÅorts and skills of our executive oÇcers and key
employees, particularly John M. Cook. The loss of the services of Mr. Cook could materially adversely aÅect
our business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations. We have entered into employment agreements with
Mr. Cook and other members of management. We also maintain key man life insurance policies in the
aggregate amounts of $13.3 million on the life of Mr. Cook.

We May Not Be Able to Continue to Compete Successfully with Other Recovery Audit Firms

The recovery audit business is highly competitive. Our principal competitors for accounts payable
recovery audit services include many local and regional Ñrms and Howard Schultz & Associates, Inc., with
operations in the U.S. and abroad. Our competitors for tax recovery audit services in France include major
international accounting Ñrms, tax attorneys and several smaller tax recovery audit Ñrms. Also, we believe that
newly independent Big 5 consulting units may become formidable competitors in the future. We are uncertain
whether we can continue to compete successfully with our competitors. In addition, our proÑt margins could
decline because of competitive pricing pressures that may have a material adverse eÅect on our business,
Ñnancial condition and results of operations.

Our Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Shareholders' Rights Plan and Georgia Law May Inhibit a Takeover
of PRG

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and Georgia law contain provisions that may delay, deter or
inhibit a future acquisition of us not approved by our Board of Directors. This could occur even if our
shareholders are oÅered an attractive value for their shares or if a substantial number or even a majority of our
shareholders believe the takeover is in their best interest. These provisions are intended to encourage any
person interested in acquiring us to negotiate with and obtain the approval of our Board of Directors in
connection with the transaction. Provisions that could delay, deter or inhibit a future acquisition include the
following:

‚ a staggered Board of Directors;

‚ special meeting call restrictions; and

‚ the ability of the Board of Directors to consider the interests of various constituencies, including our
employees, clients and creditors and the local community.

Our Articles of Incorporation also permit the Board of Directors to issue shares of preferred stock with
such designations, powers, preferences and rights as it determines, without any further vote or action by our
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shareholders. In addition, we have in place a ""poison pill'' shareholders' rights plan that will trigger a dilutive
issuance of common stock upon substantial purchases of our common stock by a third party which are not
approved by the Board of Directors. These provisions also could discourage bids for our shares of common
stock at a premium and have a material adverse eÅect on the market price of our shares.

The Price of Our Stock Has Been Volatile and Could Continue to Fluctuate Substantially

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market. The market price of our common stock has
been volatile, has Öuctuated substantially and could continue to do so, based on a variety of factors, including
the following:

‚ future announcements concerning us or our key clients or competitors;

‚ technological innovations;

‚ government regulations;

‚ litigation; or

‚ changes in earnings estimates by analysts or the publication of negative reports by analysts about us.

Furthermore, stock prices for many companies Öuctuate widely for reasons that may be unrelated to their
operating results. These Öuctuations and general economic, political and market conditions, such as recessions
or international currency Öuctuations and demand for our services, may adversely aÅect the market price of
our common stock.

Our Further Expansion into Electronic Commerce Auditing Strategies and Processes May Not be ProÑtable

The Company anticipates a growing need for recovery auditing services among current clients migrating
to internet-based procurement, as well as potential clients already engaged in electronic commerce transac-
tions. The Company possesses a number of core competencies, including Electronic Data Interchange
(""EDI'') expertise, that can be leveraged toward the development of new electronic commerce audit services.
In response to future demand for the Company's recovery auditing expertise, the Company intends to further
expand into internet technology areas in the near future and may make substantial Ñnancial investments to do
so. The proÑtability of these investments can not be assured nor can the demand for these services be fully
anticipated.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements which look forward in
time and involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements that cannot be assessed until the
occurrence of a future event or events should be considered forward-looking. These statements are forward-
looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and can be
identiÑed by the use of forward-looking words such as ""may,'' ""will,'' ""expect,'' ""anticipate,'' ""believe,''
""estimate'' and ""continue'' or similar words. Such statements include, without limitation, the following:

‚ statements regarding the anticipated beneÑts of the planned divestitures;

‚ the Company's belief that current business-to-business e-commerce initiatives involving the internet
may provide recovery opportunities that exceed those existing when EDI is used;

‚ the Company's ability to identify each year a larger volume of recoveries for most of its retail/
wholesale clients;

‚ the ability of smaller recovery audit Ñrms to compete in the future without making substantial capital
investments;

‚ statements that contain projections of the Company's future results of operations or of the Company's
Ñnancial condition; and
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‚ statements as to the adequacy of the Company's current working capital.

There may be events in the future, however, that we are not accurately able to predict or over which we
have no control. The risk factors listed under the heading ""Risk Factors'' in this Item 1., as well as any
cautionary language in this Form 10-K, provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause our
actual results to diÅer materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. You
should be aware that the occurrence of any of the events denoted as risk factors above and elsewhere in this
Form 10-K could have a material adverse eÅect on our business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 2. Properties

The Company's principal executive oÇce is located in approximately 95,000 square feet of oÇce space in
Atlanta, Georgia. The Company leases this space under various agreements with primary terms expiring from
December 2002 through February 2005. The Company's various operating units lease numerous other parcels
of operating space in the various countries in which the Company currently conducts its business. Most of the
Company's real property leases are individually less than Ñve years in duration. See Note 5 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

Beginning on June 6, 2000, three putative class action lawsuits were Ñled against the Company and
certain of its present and former oÇcers in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Georgia, Atlanta Division. These cases were subsequently consolidated into one proceeding styled: In re ProÑt
Recovery Group International, Inc. Sec. Litig., Civil Action File No. 1:00-CV-1416-CC (the ""Securities
Class Action Litigation''). On November 13, 2000, the PlaintiÅs in these cases Ñled a Consolidated and
Amended Complaint (the ""Complaint''). In that Complaint, PlaintiÅs allege in general terms that the
Company, John M. Cook, Scott L. Colabuono, and Michael A. Lustig (the ""Defendants'') violated
Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by
allegedly disseminating materially false and misleading information about a change in the Company's method
of recognizing revenue and in connection with revenue reported for a division. PlaintiÅs purport to bring this
action on behalf of a putative class of persons who purchased the Company's stock between July 19, 1999 and
July 26, 2000. PlaintiÅs seek an unspeciÑed amount of compensatory damages, payment of litigation fees and
expenses, and equitable and/or injunctive relief. On January 24, 2001, Defendants Ñled a Motion to Dismiss
the Complaint for failure to state a claim under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, 15 U.S.C.
Û 78u-4 et seq. PlaintiÅs Ñled their response to the Motion to Dismiss March 12, 2001 and Defendant's reply
in support of that Motion is due on April 11, 2001. The Company believes the alleged claims in this lawsuit
are without merit. The Company intends to defend this lawsuit vigorously. Due to the inherent uncertainties of
the litigation process and the judicial system, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of this litigation.
If the outcome of this litigation is adverse to the Company, it could have a material adverse eÅect on the
Company's business, Ñnancial condition, and results of operations.

In the normal course of business, the Company is involved in and subject to other claims, contractual
disputes and other uncertainties. Management, after reviewing with legal counsel all of these actions and
proceedings, believes that the aggregate losses, if any, will not have a material adverse eÅect on the Company's
Ñnancial position or results of operations.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

During the Ñscal fourth quarter covered by this report, no matter was submitted to a vote of security
holders of the Company.
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PART II

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company's common stock is traded under the symbol ""PRGX'' on the Nasdaq Stock Market
(Nasdaq). The Company has not paid cash dividends since its March 26, 1996 initial public oÅering and does
not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Moreover, restrictive covenants included in the
Company's bank credit facility speciÑcally prohibit payment of cash dividends. Shareholder distributions
reÖected in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 1999 and 1998 relate to the pre-acquisition operations of PRS International, Ltd. which the Company
acquired in August 1999 and accounted for under the pooling-of-interests method. As of February 28, 2001,
there were approximately 6,000 beneÑcial holders of the Company's common stock and 333 holders of record.
The following table sets forth, for the quarters indicated, the range of high and low prices for the Company's
common stock as reported by Nasdaq during 2000 and 1999 and which have been retroactively adjusted,
where appropriate, to reÖect the Company's 3-for-2 stock split (eÅected in the form of a stock dividend) paid
on August 17, 1999:

2000 Calendar Quarter High Low

1st Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $33.50 $18.38
2nd Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20.50 13.06
3rd QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17.56 7.94
4th QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.38 3.75

1999 Calendar Quarter

1st Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $26.67 $18.75
2nd Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32.25 22.42
3rd QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45.50 24.83
4th QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47.50 23.00

ITEM 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated Ñnancial data for the Company as of and for the Ñve
years ended December 31, 2000. Such historical consolidated Ñnancial data as of and for the Ñve years ended
December 31, 2000 have been derived from the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes
thereto, which Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2000 and 1999 and for each of the years
in the three-year period ended December 31, 2000 have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent auditors.
The Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related Consolidated
Statements of Operations, Shareholders' Equity and Cash Flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2000 and the independent auditors' report thereon, which in each such year is based
partially upon the report of other auditors and refers to changes in accounting for revenue recognition in 2000
and 1999, are included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K. In March 2001, the Company formalized a strategic
realignment initiative designed to enhance the Company's Ñnancial position and clarify its investment and
operating strategy by focusing primarily on its core Accounts Payable business. Under this strategic
realignment initiative, the Company will divest of the following non-core businesses: Meridian within the
former Taxation Services segment, the Logistics Management Services segment, the Communications
Services segment and the Ship & Debit division within the Accounts Payable Services segment. Selected
Consolidated Financial data for the Company have been restated to reÖect Meridian, Logistics Management
Services, Communications Services, and Ship & Debit as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
Selected Consolidated Financial data for the Company was retroactively restated, as required under
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, to include the accounts of Meridian
and PRS International, Ltd. which were acquired in August 1999 and accounted for under the pooling-of-
interests method. Further, the Company made the decision in the second quarter of 1999 to recognize revenue
on all of its then existing operations when it invoices clients for its fee retroactive to January 1, 1999. The
Company had previously recognized revenue from services provided to its historical client base (consisting
primarily of retailers, wholesale distributors and governmental entities) at the time overpayment claims were
presented to and approved by its clients. In accordance with the applicable requirements of accounting
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principles generally accepted in the United States of America, consolidated Ñnancial statements for periods
prior to 1999 have not been restated. Due to accounting changes and acquisitions accounted for as poolings-of-
interests, certain Ñnancial statement amounts related to continuing operations for 1999 will not be directly
comparable to corresponding amounts for 1998 and prior years, and certain Ñnancial statement amounts
related to discontinued operations for 2000 will not be directly comparable to corresponding amounts for 1999
and prior years. The data presented below should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes thereto included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K and other Ñnancial information appearing
elsewhere in this Form 10-K including Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.

Years Ended December 31,

2000(12) 1999(2)(10) 1998(1)(3) 1997(1)(4) 1996(1)

(In thousands, except per share data)

Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $297,089 $280,367 $206,859 $125,171 $85,439
Cost of revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 156,408 145,949 108,004 65,502 45,227
Selling, general and administrative

expenses(5)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 119,779 90,952 69,917 42,841 28,925

Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,902 43,466 28,938 16,828 11,287
Interest (expense), net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,253) (4,190) (2,053) (383) (90)

Earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes, discontinued
operations and cumulative eÅect of
accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,649 39,276 26,885 16,445 11,197

Income taxes(6)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,313 15,632 9,948 6,153 7,799

Earnings from continuing operations
before discontinued operations and
cumulative eÅect of accounting
change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,336 23,644 16,937 10,292 3,398

Discontinued operations:
Earnings (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of income taxes(10)ÏÏ (46,464) 3,792 (2,303) (928) 445
Gain (loss) on disposal from

discontinued operations including
operating results for phase out period,
net of income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì

Earnings (loss) from discontinued
operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (46,464) 3,792 (2,303) (928) 445

Earnings (loss) before cumulative eÅect
of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (39,128) 27,436 14,634 9,364 3,843

Cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏ Ì (29,195) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(39,128) $ (1,759) $ 14,634 $ 9,364 $ 3,843

Cash dividends per share(11)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ 0.16

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings from continuing operations before

discontinued operations and cumulative
eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.15 $ 0.50 $ 0.43 $ 0.31 $ 0.11

Discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.95) 0.07 (0.06) (0.03) 0.02
Cumulative eÅect of  accounting changeÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.61) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.80) $ (0.04) $ 0.37 $ 0.28 $ 0.13

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings from continuing operations before

discontinued operations and cumulative
eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.15 $ 0.48 $ 0.42 $ 0.30 $ 0.11

Discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.94) 0.07 (0.06) (0.03) 0.01
Cumulative eÅect of  accounting changeÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.59) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.79) $ (0.04) $ 0.36 $ 0.27 $ 0.12
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December 31,

2000(12) 1999(2)(7) 1998(1)(3)(8) 1997(1)(4) 1996(1)(9)

(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 23,870 $ 22,315 $ 28,000 $ 19,926 $17,056
Working capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 127,958 112,166 45,343 17,946 36,388
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 464,831 484,719 366,545 117,629 51,936
Long-term debt, excluding current

installments and loans from
shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 154,563 95,294 112,886 24,372 716

Loans from shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 52
Total shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 239,156 292,500 144,105 45,515 23,570

(1) Selected consolidated Ñnancial data for the Company as of and for the three years December 31, 1998, as previously reported, have

been retroactively restated, as required under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, to include

the accounts of Meridian VAT Corporation Limited and PRS International, Ltd. which were each acquired in August 1999 and

accounted for under the pooling-of-interests method. See Notes 2 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included

in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

(2) During 1999, the Company completed six acquisitions accounted for as purchases consisting of Payment Technologies, Inc. (April),

Invoice and TariÅ Management Group, LLC (June), AP SA (October), Freight Rate Services, Inc. (December), Integrated

Systems Consultants, Inc. (December) and minority interests in three Japanese subsidiaries of Meridian VAT Corporation Limited

(December). See Notes 2 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

(3) During 1998, the Company completed eight acquisitions accounted for as purchases consisting of Precision Data Link (March),

The Medallion Group (June), Novexel S.A. (July), Loder, Drew & Associates, Inc. (August), Cost Recovery Professionals Pty

Ltd (September), Robert Beck & Associates, Inc. and related businesses (October), IP Strategies SA (November) and Industrial

TraÇc Consultants, Inc. (December). See Notes 2 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of

this Form 10-K.

(4) During 1997, the Company completed four acquisitions accounted for as purchases consisting of Accounts Payable Recovery

Services, Inc. (February), The Hale Group (May), 98.4% of Financi fiere Alma, S.A. and its subsidiaries (October) and

TradeCheck, LLC (November), and one acquisition accounted for as a pooling of interests, Shaps Group, Inc. (January). See

Notes 2 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

(5) Includes merger-related charges relating to a business acquired under the pooling-of-interests accounting method and certain

restructuring charges. See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

(6) In connection with the Company's March 1996 initial public oÅering, all domestic entities became C corporations. As a result of

these conversions to C corporations, the Company incurred a charge to operations of $3.7 million in 1996 for cumulative deferred

income taxes. The Company's 1996 provision for income taxes of $7.8 million consists of the above-mentioned $3.7 million charge

for cumulative deferred income taxes combined with $4.1 million in tax provisions for the three quarters subsequent to the

March 26, 1996 initial public oÅering.

(7) Balance Sheet Data as of December 31, 1999 reÖect the receipt of net proceeds from the Company's January 1999 follow-on public

oÅering. See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

(8) Balance Sheet Data as of December 31, 1998 reÖect the receipt of net proceeds from the Company's March 1998 follow-on public

oÅering. See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

(9) Balance Sheet Data as of December 31, 1996 reÖect the receipt of net proceeds from the Company's March 1996 initial public

oÅering together with the partial use of such proceeds to repay substantially all debt obligations other than certain convertible

debentures which were converted to equity immediately prior to the oÅering.

(10) In 2000 and 1999, the Company changed its method of accounting for revenue recognition. See Notes 2(b) and 1(d) of Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.

(11) Cash dividends per share represent distributions to shareholders of the Company prior to the Company's initial public oÅering and

distributions to the shareholders of PRS International, Ltd.

(12) During 2000, the Company completed two acquisitions accounted for as purchases consisting of The Right Answer, Inc. (March)

and TSL Services, Inc. (June). See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc. and subsidiaries (the ""Company'') is a leading provider of
recovery audit, expense containment and knowledge application services to large and mid-size businesses
having numerous payment transactions with many vendors.

In businesses with large purchase volumes and continuously Öuctuating prices, some small percentage of
erroneous overpayments to vendors is inevitable. Although these businesses process the vast majority of
payment transactions correctly, a small number of errors do occur. In the aggregate, these transaction errors
can represent meaningful ""lost proÑts'' that can be particularly signiÑcant for businesses with relatively narrow
proÑt margins. The Company's trained, experienced industry specialists use sophisticated proprietary technol-
ogy and advanced recovery techniques and methodologies to identify overpayments to vendors and tax
authorities. In addition, these specialists review clients' current practices and processes related to procurement
and other expenses in order to identify solutions to manage and reduce expense levels, as well as apply
knowledge and expertise of industry best practices to assist clients in improving their business eÇciencies.

In proceeding with the Company's strategic realignment initiative, the Company anticipates recognizing
certain non-recurring charges related to the termination of certain of personnel during the Ñrst quarter of 2001.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the percentage of revenues represented by certain items in the Company's
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52.7 52.1 52.2
Selling, general and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 40.3 32.4 33.8

Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.0 15.5 14.0
Interest (expense), netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.7) (1.5) (1.0)

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes,
discontinued operations and cumulative eÅect of
accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.3 14.0 13.0

Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.8 5.6 4.8

Earnings from continuing operations before discontinued
operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏ 2.5 8.4 8.2

Discontinued operations:
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of

income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (15.7) 1.4 (1.1)
Gain (loss) on disposal from discontinued operations

including operating results for phase out period, net of
income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (15.7) 1.4 (1.1)

Earnings (loss) before cumulative eÅect of accounting
change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.2) 9.8 7.1

Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (10.4) Ì

Net earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.2)% (0.6)% 7.1%
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2000 Compared to 1999

Revenues. The Company's revenues consist principally of contractual percentages of overpayments
recovered for clients. The Company's services from continuing operations are currently grouped into two
distinct operating segments: Accounts Payable Services and French Taxation Services (see Note 13 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K).

Revenues from continuing operations increased 6.0% to $297.1 million in 2000, up from $280.4 million in
1999. This year-over-year increase of $16.7 million was comprised of an increase of $8.7 million from the
Accounts Payable Services segment and $8.0 million from the Company's French Taxation Services segment.

International revenues from continuing operations grew 28.0% to $103.0 million in 2000, up from
$80.5 million in 1999. Revenues from the international portion of the Company's Accounts Payable Services
segment increased 31.2% to $61.0 million in 2000, up from $46.5 million in 1999. This growth in the Accounts
Payable Services segment was driven by new clients and by an expansion of services to existing clients, with
the majority of the growth generated in Europe and Latin America. Year-over-year revenue growth in the
Company's French Taxation Services segment of 23.5% resulted primarily from the acquisition of AP SA and
its subsidiaries (collectively, ""Groupe AP'') in October 1999.

Domestic revenues from continuing operations, which are generated entirely by the Company's Accounts
Payable Services segment, decreased 2.9% to $194.1 million in 2000, down from $199.9 million in 1999. This
decrease was driven by various factors in 2000, including delays or shifts in certain audit starts due to client-
speciÑc factors, certain clients that Ñled bankruptcy, longer than anticipated client recovery of overpayments
for certain categories of recoveries, and shortfalls in execution of sales strategies to drive revenue generation.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues consists principally of commissions paid or payable to the
Company's auditors based primarily upon the level of overpayment recoveries, and compensation paid to
various types of hourly workers and salaried operational managers. Also included in cost of revenues are other
direct costs incurred by these personnel including rental of non-headquarters oÇces, travel and entertainment,
telephone, utilities, maintenance and supplies and clerical assistance.

Cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations increased slightly to 52.7% of
revenues in 2000, up from 52.1% of revenues in 1999.

Internationally, cost of revenues as a percentage of international revenues from continuing operations
improved to 46.7% in 2000, down from 49.3% in 1999. This year-over-year reduction in the cost of revenues as
a percentage of revenues was primarily driven by improvements in the cost structure of the Company's
international component of the Accounts Payable Services segment, most notably in the European and Asia
operations. Cost of revenues as a percentage of segment revenues in the Company's French Taxation Services
segment for 2000 remained comparable with previous year performance.

Domestically, cost of revenues as a percentage of domestic revenues from continuing operations increased
to 55.8% in 2000, up from 53.1% in 1999. This increase was principally driven by an increase in cost of
revenues both as a percentage of revenues and on an absolute basis in the domestic commercial Accounts
Payable Services operations, while revenues during this same period were lower. Costs of revenues as a
percentage of revenue in the domestic retail/wholesale Accounts Payable Services operations on an absolute
basis was comparable for 2000 as compared to 1999.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses include the
expenses of sales and marketing activities, information technology services and the corporate data center,
human resources, legal and accounting, administration, headquarters-related depreciation of property and
equipment and amortization of intangibles.

Selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations
increased to 40.3% in 2000, up from 32.4% in 1999. A signiÑcant portion of this year-over-year increase was
due to non-recurring charges incurred by the Company during the fourth quarter of 2000 of approximately
$9.8 million consisting of: goodwill impairment charges, employee terminations, elimination of duplicate
facilities, accounts receivable write-oÅs, and the write-down of certain property and equipment. In addition, a
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portion of the year-over-year increase in selling, general and administrative expenses is due to expenditures
resulting from the Company's investment in infrastructure to support anticipated future growth, research and
development costs related to the Company's e-commerce business initiatives, and costs incurred in connection
with the Company's branding initiatives.

Internationally, excluding corporate overhead, selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent-
age of revenues from continuing operations increased to 32.1% in 2000, up from 28.5% in 1999. This increase
was attributed primarily to the above-mentioned goodwill impairment charges related to the acquisition of IP
Strategies, part of the French Taxation Services segment. Overall, French Taxation Services experienced an
increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percentage of segment revenues to 46.1% in 2000
versus 35.9% in 1999. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of segment revenues for
international Accounts Payable Services decreased slightly to 22.5% in 2000, down from 23.2% in 1999.

Domestically, excluding corporate overhead, selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of revenues from continuing operations increased to 23.9% in 2000, up from 20.4% in 1999. This increase is
attributable to an increase in overhead support dedicated to the Accounts Payable Services business segment.

Corporate selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues from continuing
operations increased to 13.6% in 2000 up, from 9.7% in 1999. This increase is attributed to certain non-
recurring charges outlined above.

In August 1999, the Company acquired PRS International, Ltd. (""PRS'') in a transaction accounted for
as a pooling-of-interest. Costs incurred to combine the operations of PRS with the existing Accounts Payable
Services business resulted in a non-recurring, restructuring charge of $1.1 million to provide for certain
employee severance payments and the costs of closing duplicate oÇce facilities.

In connection with acquired businesses, the Company has recorded intangible assets including goodwill
and deferred non-compete costs. Amortization of these intangible assets totaled $14.7 million in 2000 and $9.5
million in 1999.

Operating Income. Operating income as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations decreased
to 7.0% in 2000, down from 15.5% in 1999. Internationally, operating income as a percentage of revenues from
continuing operations, excluding corporate overhead, decreased to 21.2% in 2000, from 22.1% in 1999. This
decline was driven by a decrease in operating income in French Taxation Services to 13.5% in 2000, down
from 23.4% in 1999, for reasons outlined above. Operating income for international Accounts Payable Services
improved to 26.5% in 2000, up from 21.2% in 1999, primarily due to strong revenue growth and a reduction in
cost of revenues. Domestically, operating income as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations,
excluding corporate overhead, decreased to 20.3% in 2000, down from 26.5% in 1999 for reasons outlined
above.

Interest (Expense), Net. Interest (expense), net for 2000 was $8.3 million, up from $4.2 million in
1999. Most of the Company's interest expense pertains to its $200.0 million senior credit facility with a
banking syndicate. The Company makes periodic borrowings under its credit facility primarily to Ñnance the
cash portion of consideration paid for businesses it acquires (see Notes 2 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K). Without these acquisitions, the Company's need
for bank borrowings would have been minimal.

Earnings From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes, Discontinued Operations and Cumulative
EÅect of Accounting Change. Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, discontinued
operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change decreased 67.8% to $12.6 million in 2000, down from
$39.3 million in 1999. As a percentage of total revenues, earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes, discontinued operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change were 4.3% in 2000 and 14.0% in
1999.

Income Taxes. The provisions for income taxes for 2000 and 1999 consist of federal, state and foreign
income taxes at the Company's eÅective tax rate which approximated 42% in 2000 and 40% in 1999.
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Earnings (Loss) From Discontinued Operations. In March 2001, the Company formalized a strategic
realignment initiative designed to enhance the Company's Ñnancial position and clarify its investment and
operating strategy by focusing primarily on its core Accounts Payable Services business. Under this strategic
realignment initiative, the Company will divest of the following non-core businesses: Meridian within the
former Taxation Services segment, the Logistics Management Services segment, the Communications
Services segment and the Ship & Debit division within the Accounts Payable Services segment.

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations decreased by $50.3 million from earnings of $3.8 million in
1999 to a loss of $46.5 million in 2000. Approximately $34.7 million of this year-over-year decline was due to
the Company's decision to retroactively change its method of accounting for revenue recognition for the
Meridian and Ship & Debit divisions, in consideration of guidance issued by the Securities and Exchange
Commission under StaÅ Accounting Bulletin No. 101 ""Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements''
(""SAB 101'') (see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this
Form 10-K). Additionally, the Company recognized an after tax non-recurring goodwill impairment charge of
approximately $15.6 million to adjust the net book value of the goodwill contained within the Communica-
tions Services segment.

If the Company does not divest itself of the non-core businesses within approximately one year, their
results may be reconsolidated with the results from continuing operations.

Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding Ì Basic. The Company's weighted-average shares outstanding
for purposes of calculating basic earnings per share increased to 48.9 million for 2000, up from 47.5 million for
1999. This increase was comprised primarily of (i) restricted, unregistered shares issued by the Company in
connection with acquisitions of various companies in 2000 and 1999 (ii) unregistered shares issued by the
Company in liquidation of Meridian's shareholder loans in 1999 and reduced by (iii) outstanding shares
repurchased in the open market under the Company's publicly announced share repurchase program in 2000
(see Notes 2, 8 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K).

1999 Compared with 1998

As indicated in Note 1(a) and elsewhere in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
Item 8. of this Form 10-K, the Company chose during its quarter ended June 30, 1999, retroactive to
January 1, 1999, to recognize revenue for the substantial majority of its operations when it invoices clients for
its fee. In accordance with the applicable requirements of accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, the consolidated Ñnancial statements for periods prior to 1999 have not been
restated. As a result, certain Ñnancial statement accounts for 1999 will not be directly comparable to
corresponding amounts for 1998 and prior years.

As further indicated in Notes 1(a) and 2 and elsewhere in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K, during August 1999 the Company acquired Meridian and
PRS. These acquisitions were accounted for as poolings-of-interests. Accordingly, the Company's previously
reported consolidated Ñnancial statements for all prior periods have been retroactively restated, as required
under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, to include the operations of
Meridian and PRS.

Revenues. Revenues from continuing operations increased 35.5% to $280.4 million in 1999, up from
$206.9 million in 1998. This year-over-year increase of $73.5 million was driven by similar revenue growth on
a percentage basis for both domestic and international operations.

International revenues from continuing operations grew 34.9% to $80.5 million in 1999, up from
$59.7 million in 1998. Revenue increases of 38.0% in the international component of the Accounts Payable
Services segment to $46.5 million in 1999, up from $33.7 in 1998, were driven primarily by internal growth
resulting from both new clients and additional revenues from existing clients. Revenue growth in the French
Taxation Services segment of 30.9% in 1999 compared to 1998 resulted both from internal growth as well as
from the acquisitions of Novexel S.A. (1998), IP Strategies SA (1998), and AP SA (1999).
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Domestic revenues from continuing operations, which are generated entirely from the Accounts Payable
Services segment, increased 35.8% to $199.9 million in 1999, up from $147.2 million in 1998. Domestic
revenue growth in 1999 was driven by a combination of revenues from Accounts Payable companies acquired
during 1998 under the purchase method of accounting (Loder, Drew & Associates, and Robert Beck and
Associates, Inc. Ì see Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this
Form 10-K), and internal growth resulting from both new clients and additional revenues from existing clients.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations decreased
slightly to 52.1% of revenues in 1999, down from 52.2% of revenues in 1998.

Internationally, cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations increased to
49.3% in 1999, up from 46.3% in 1998. This higher cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues was primarily
due to increases in the Company's international Accounts Payable Services business due to the increased
auditor management costs associated with geographic business expansion. Cost of revenues as a percentage of
revenues in French Taxation Services improved to 40.7% in 1999 from 41.4% in 1998.

Domestically, cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations decreased to 53.1%
in 1999, down from 54.6% in 1998. This decrease on a percentage basis was driven primarily by an
improvement in cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues in the Company's domestic retail/wholesale
Accounts Payable portion of its Accounts Payable Services segment. Cost of revenues as a percentage of
revenues in the domestic commercial Accounts Payable Services business was slightly higher in 1999 when
compared to 1998.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of revenues from continuing operations decreased to 32.4% in 1999, down from 33.8% in 1998.

Internationally, excluding corporate overhead, selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent-
age of revenues from continuing operations decreased to 28.5% in 1999, down from 35.0% in 1998. This
improvement was driven by a decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses in international
Accounts Payable Services to 23.2% in 1999, down from 35.3% in 1998, related principally to Ñxed cost
elements being spread over a growing revenue base. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of revenues for French Taxation Services increased slightly to 35.9% in 1999, up from 34.7% in
1998.

Domestically, excluding corporate overhead, selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of revenues from continuing operations increased to 20.4% in 1999, up from 19.7% in 1998. This rise in costs
was driven by an increase in domestic retail Accounts Payable Services selling, general, and administrative
expenses in 1999 from 1998, oÅset to some extent by a decrease in domestic commercial Accounts Payable
Services selling, general, and administrative expenses.

Corporate selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues from continuing
operations was 9.7% in 1999 and 1998.

In August 1999, the Company acquired PRS in a transaction accounted for as a pooling-of-interest. Costs
incurred to combine the operations of PRS with its existing Accounts Payable Services business resulted in a
non-recurring, restructuring charge of $1.1 million to provide for certain employee severance payments and
the costs of closing duplicate oÇce facilities.

In connection with acquired businesses, the Company has recorded intangible assets including goodwill
and deferred non-compete costs. Amortization of these intangible assets totaled $9.5 million in 1999 and
$5.9 million in 1998.

Operating Income. Operating income as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations increased
to 15.5% in 1999, up from 14.0% in 1998. Internationally, operating income as a percentage of revenues from
continuing operations, excluding corporate overhead, improved to 22.1% in 1999, up from 18.7% in 1998, as a
result of improvements in operating income in international Accounts Payable for reasons outlined above.
Operating income for French Taxation Services decreased slightly to 23.4% in 1999, down from 23.9% in 1998.
Domestically, operating income as a percentage of revenues from continuing operations, excluding corporate
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overhead, improved slightly to 26.5% in 1999, up from 25.7% in 1998, driven by an improvement in operating
income for domestic commercial Accounts Payable for reasons outlined above.

Interest (Expense), Net. Interest (expense), net for 1999 was $4.2 million, up from $2.1 million in
1998. Most of the Company's interest expense pertains to its $200.0 million senior credit facility with a
banking syndicate. The Company makes periodic borrowings under its credit facility primarily to Ñnance the
cash portion of consideration paid for businesses it acquires (see Notes 2 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K). Without these acquisitions, the Company's need
for bank borrowings would have been minimal.

Earnings From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes, Discontinued Operations and Cumulative
EÅect of Accounting Change. Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, discontinued
operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change increased 46.1% to $39.3 million in 1999, up from
$26.9 million in 1998. As a percentage of total revenues, earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes, discontinued operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change were 14.0% in 1999 and 13.0% in
1998.

Income Taxes. The provisions for income taxes for 1999 and 1998 consist of federal, state and foreign
income taxes at the Company's eÅective tax rate which approximated 40% in 1999 and 37% in 1998. EÅective
tax rates in 1999 are higher than 1998 as a result of business acquisition transactions.

Earnings (Loss) From Discontinued Operations. Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations im-
proved by $6.1 million from a loss of $2.3 million in 1998 to earnings of $3.8 million in 1999. A substantial
portion of this year-over-year increase was attributable to acquisitions that the Company completed in 1999
related to both the Communications Services and the Logistics Management Services segments. Additionally,
the Meridian division improved its year-over-year performance by approximately 24.9% in 1999 compared to
its 1998 operating income levels.

If the Company does not divest itself of the non-core businesses within approximately one year, their
results may be reconsolidated with the results from continuing operations.

Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding Ì Basic. The Company's weighted-average shares outstanding
for purposes of calculating basic earnings per share increased to 47.5 million for 1999, up from 39.2 million for
1998. This increase related primarily to 4.1 million common shares issued in a public oÅering in January 1999
and common shares issued in connection with acquisitions of various companies in 1999 and 1998 (see
Notes 2, 8 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K).
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Quarterly Results

The following tables set forth certain unaudited quarterly Ñnancial data for each of the Company's last
eight quarters. The information has been derived from unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements that, in
the opinion of management, reÖect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments)
necessary for a fair presentation of such quarterly information. The operating results for any quarter are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period.

2000 Quarter Ended 1999 Quarter Ended

Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

(In thousands, except per share data)

RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 63,894 $76,683 $79,087 $ 77,425 $ 56,218 $70,229 $74,472 $79,448
Cost of revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,350 38,572 40,594 41,892 32,100 38,091 35,181 40,577
Selling, general and administrative

expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,910 24,520 28,161 41,188 21,148 21,663 25,516 22,625

Operating income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,634 13,591 10,332 (5,655) 2,970 10,475 13,775 16,246
Interest (expense), net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,570) (2,171) (2,287) (2,225) (781) (1,003) (1,102) (1,304)

Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes,
discontinued operations and
cumulative eÅect of accounting
changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,064 11,420 8,045 (7,880) 2,189 9,472 12,673 14,942

Income tax expense (beneÑt) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 447 4,796 3,380 (3,310) 871 3,770 5,044 5,947

Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations before discontinued
operations and cumulative eÅect of
accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 617 6,624 4,665 (4,570) 1,318 5,702 7,629 8,995

Discontinued operations:
Earnings (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of income taxes ÏÏÏÏ (24,413) 24 (236) (21,839) (2,164) 4,554 (4,548) 5,950
Gain (loss) on disposal from

discontinued operations including
operating results for phase out
period, net of income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì

Earnings (loss) from discontinued
operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (24,413) 24 (236) (21,839) (2,164) 4,554 (4,548) 5,950

Earnings (loss) before cumulative eÅect
of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (23,796) 6,648 4,429 (26,409) (846) 10,256 3,081 14,945

Cumulative eÅect of accounting change Ì Ì Ì Ì (29,195) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(23,796) $ 6,648 $ 4,429 $(26,409) $(30,041) $10,256 $ 3,081 $14,945

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) from continuing

operations before discontinued
operations and cumulative eÅect of
accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ 0.13 $ 0.10 $ (0.10) $ 0.03 $ 0.12 $ 0.16 $ 0.19

Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.49) Ì (0.01) (0.46) (0.05) 0.10 (0.09) 0.12
Cumulative eÅect of accounting

changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (0.63) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.48) $ 0.13 $ 0.09 $ (0.56) $ (0.65) $ 0.22 $ 0.07 $ 0.31

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) from continuing

operations before discontinued
operations and cumulative eÅect of
accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ 0.13 $ 0.09 $ (0.10) $ 0.03 $ 0.12 $ 0.15 $ 0.18

Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.48) Ì Ì (0.46) (0.05) 0.09 (0.09) 0.11
Cumulative eÅect of accounting

changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (0.61) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.47) $ 0.13 $ 0.09 $ (0.56) $ (0.63) $ 0.21 $ 0.06 $ 0.29
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The information for the seven quarters ended September 30, 2000, as originally reported prior to
presentation of discontinued operations were as follows:

2000 Quarter Ended 1999 Quarter Ended

Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $81,829 $105,751 $101,973 $ 64,437 $90,443 $91,259 $103,508
Cost of revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45,738 53,267 56,541 38,038 47,441 43,411 51,747
Selling, general and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏ 31,282 29,264 35,072 22,873 24,660 27,540 27,208

Operating income before business acquisition and
restructuring expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,809 23,220 10,360 3,526 18,342 20,308 24,553

Business acquisition and restructuring expenses ÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 1,495 1,496 10,380 (30)

Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,809 23,220 10,360 2,031 16,846 9,928 24,583
Interest (expense), netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,550) (2,580) (2,645) (1,414) (1,560) (1,304) (1,251)

Earnings before income taxes, minority interest
and cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏ 3,259 20,640 7,715 617 15,286 8,624 23,332

Income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,214 7,688 2,874 1,386 4,718 5,495 8,467

Earnings (loss) before minority interest and
cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,045 12,952 4,841 (769) 10,568 3,129 14,865

Minority interest in (earnings) of consolidated
subsidiaries ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (77) (312) (48) 80

Earnings (loss) before cumulative eÅect of
accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,045 12,952 4,841 (846) 10,256 3,081 14,945

Cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (29,195) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,045 $ 12,952 $ 4,841 $(30,041) $10,256 $ 3,081 $ 14,945

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) before cumulative eÅect of

accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.04 $ 0.26 $ 0.10 $ (0.02) $ 0.22 $ 0.06 $ 0.31
Cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (0.63) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.04 $ 0.26 $ 0.10 $ (0.65) $ 0.22 $ 0.06 $ 0.31

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) before cumulative eÅect of

accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.04 $ 0.26 $ 0.10 $ (0.02) $ .021 $ 0.06 $ 0.29
Cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (0.63) Ì Ì Ì

Net earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.04 $ 0.26 $ 0.10 $ (0.65) $ 0.21 $ 0.06 $ 0.29

The Company has experienced and expects to continue to experience signiÑcant seasonality in its
business. The Company typically realizes higher revenues and operating income in the last two quarters of its
Ñscal year. This trend reÖects the inherent purchasing and operational cycles of the Company's clients. The
Company's larger acquisitions during recent years are not expected to aÅect this trend because these entities
have historically experienced similar seasonality in their revenues and operating income. Should the Company
not continue to realize increased revenues in future third and fourth quarter periods, proÑtability for any
aÅected quarter and the entire year could be materially and adversely aÅected due to ongoing selling, general
and administrative expenses that are largely Ñxed over the short term.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company maintains a $200.0 million senior bank credit facility that is syndicated between nine
banking institutions led by NationsBank, N.A. (now Bank of America) as agent for the group. Subject to
adherence to standard loan covenants, borrowings under the credit facility are available for working capital,
acquisitions of other companies in the recovery audit industry, capital expenditures and general corporate
purposes. As of March 13, 2001, the Company had $147.8 million in outstanding principal borrowings under
its credit facility.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $33.5 million in 2000, $5.5 million in 1999 and
$15.4 million in 1998. The 2000 improvement related in part to increased managerial emphasis on client
billings and cash collections.
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Net cash used in investing activities was $51.7 million in 2000, $45.3 million in 1999 and $96.6 million in
1998. During 2000, 1999 and 1998, the Company spent $44.0 million, $27.2 million and $79.0 million,
respectively, as the cash portion of consideration paid to acquire various recovery audit Ñrms.

Net cash provided by Ñnancing activities was $43.6 million in 2000, $84.4 million in 1999 and $128.5
million in 1998. As discussed in Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.
of this Form 10-K, the Company completed an underwritten follow-on stock oÅering in January 1999.

Net cash used in discontinued operations was $24.3 million in 2000, $50.3 million in 1999 and $39.2
million in 1998. During 2000, 1999 and 1998, the Company spent $23.8 million, $48.6 million and
$34.3 million, respectively, as the cash portion of consideration paid to acquire various recovery audit Ñrms
that are currently designated as discontinued operations.

As discussed in Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this
Form 10-K, at December 31, 1999 the Company recorded $40.0 million as accrued business acquisition
consideration. Additionally, as of December 31, 1999 the Company accrued $5.0 million of business
acquisition consideration as a component of net assets of discontinued operations on its Consolidated Balance
Sheet in connection with an acquired recovery audit Ñrm. $44.0 million was borrowed under the Company's
credit facility in 2000 and simultaneously paid to the prior owners of these two Ñrms.

The private shareholders of Groupe AP are eligible to receive additional purchase price consideration
based upon the proÑtability of Groupe AP for the two year period ending December 31, 2000 of up to 88.7
million French Francs (approximately $12.7 million at December 31, 2000) payable no later than April 30,
2001 using a prescribed combination of cash and restricted, unregistered shares of the Company's common
stock. The Company currently anticipates paying approximately $7.6 million in cash and issuing approxi-
mately $5.1 million in shares of the Company's common stock. The Company expects to fund the cash portion
of this anticipated payout through additional borrowings under the Company's credit facility.

Through March 23, 2001, the Company acquired 23 recovery audit Ñrms. The Company intends to
signiÑcantly limit future business acquisitions to those having compelling strategic importance. There can be
no assurance, however, that the Company will be successful in consummating further acquisitions due to
factors such as receptivity of potential acquisition candidates and valuation issues. Additionally, there can be
no assurance that future acquisitions, if consummated, can be successfully assimilated into the Company.

The Company from time to time issues restricted, unregistered common stock in partial consideration for
the business entities it acquires. The timing and quantity of any future securities issuances are not susceptible
to estimation. Additionally, if the Company is successful in arranging for future acquisitions which individually
or collectively are large relative to the Company's size, it may need to secure additional debt or equity
Ñnancing. There are no current plans to seek such Ñnancing.

The Company repurchased approximately 2.4 million shares of its outstanding common stock under its
share repurchase program at a cost of approximately $21.0 million. Under the share repurchase program, the
Company can purchase an additional $29.0 million of its outstanding common stock in the open market. No
borrowings under the credit facility were made to fund the purchase of these shares. Currently, the Company
anticipates funding additional share repurchases, if any, under this program with funds from operations,
however, additional borrowings under the credit facility are available, if necessary, to fund the repurchases.

As discussed in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this
Form 10-K, the Company formalized a strategic realignment initiative designed to enhance the Company's
Ñnancial position and clarify its investment and operating strategy by focusing primarily on its core Accounts
Payable business. Under this strategic realignment initiative, the Company will divest of the following non-
core businesses: Meridian VAT Reclaim (""Meridian'') within the former Taxation Services segment, the
Logistics Management Services segment, the Communications Services segment and the Ship and Debit
(""Ship & Debit'') division within the Accounts Payable segment. Proceeds from the divestiture of these
businesses are expected to be used to pay down outstanding principal borrowings under the Company's credit
facility.
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The Company believes that its current working capital, availability remaining under its $200.0 million
credit facility and cash Öow generated from future operations will be suÇcient to meet the Company's working
capital and capital expenditure requirements through December 31, 2001 unless one or more acquisitions are
consummated which require the Company to seek additional debt or equity Ñnancing.

New Accounting Standard

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, ""Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities'' establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including
certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. This pronouncement, as
amended by Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 137 and No. 138, is eÅective for all Ñscal
quarters of Ñscal years beginning after June 15, 2000 although earlier application is encouraged. The Company
has chosen to adopt this pronouncement eÅective with its Ñscal year which began January 1, 2001 and does
not believe that it will materially aÅect its reported results of operations or Ñnancial condition upon adoption.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

On August 19, 1999, the Company acquired Meridian VAT Corporation Limited (""Meridian'').
Meridian (which was declared a discontinued operation in March 2001) is based in Dublin, Ireland and
specializes in the recovery of value-added taxes paid on business expenses by corporate clients. Meridian
periodically utilizes derivative Ñnancial instruments to hedge against adverse currency Öuctuations since it
must transact business using a variety of European and Asian currencies. Meridian had no derivative Ñnancial
instruments outstanding at December 31, 2000. None of the Company's operating units other than Meridian
have historically utilized derivative Ñnancial instruments.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of The ProÑt Recovery Group
International, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related Consolidated
Statements of Operations, Shareholders' Equity, and Cash Flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2000. In connection with our audits of the consolidated Ñnancial statements, we have
also audited the Ñnancial statement schedule as listed in Item 14(a)2. These consolidated Ñnancial statements
and Ñnancial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated Ñnancial statements and Ñnancial statement schedule based on our
audits. We did not audit the consolidated Ñnancial statements of PRG France, S.A. and subsidiaries, which
Ñnancial statements reÖect total assets constituting 21% and 19% as of December 31, 2000 and 1999,
respectively, and total revenues constituting 13%, 11% and 13% in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, of the
related consolidated totals. Those Ñnancial statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been
furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for PRG France, S.A. and
subsidiaries, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Ñnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall Ñnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of the other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the consolidated Ñnancial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the Ñnancial position of The ProÑt
Recovery Group International, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of
their operations and their cash Öows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2000 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion,
the related Ñnancial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated Ñnancial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Notes 2(b) and 1(d) to the consolidated Ñnancial statements, the Company changed its
method of revenue recognition in 2000 and 1999, respectively.

KPMG LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 15, 2001
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Directors and Shareholders of
PRG France S.A.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of PRG France S.A. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2000 and 1999 and the related consolidated statements of earnings, changes in shareholders' equity and cash
Öows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These Ñnancial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Ñnancial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
Ñnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
Ñnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated Ñnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
Ñnancial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the consolidated
results of their operations and their cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

ERNST & YOUNG Audit

Any ANTOLA

Paris, France
March 9, 2001
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THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $297,089 $280,367 $206,859
Cost of revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 156,408 145,949 108,004
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 16) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 119,779 90,952 69,917

Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,902 43,466 28,938
Interest (expense), netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,253) (4,190) (2,053)

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes,
discontinued operations and cumulative eÅect of
accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,649 39,276 26,885

Income taxes (Note 6) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,313 15,632 9,948

Earnings from continuing operations before discontinued
operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏ 7,336 23,644 16,937

Discontinued operations (Note 2):
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes

of $(11,141), $4,434 and $1,880 in 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively, including cumulative eÅect of accounting change
of $(26,145) in 2000. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (46,464) 3,792 (2,303)

Gain (loss) on disposal from discontinued operations including
operating results for phase-out period, net of income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (46,464) 3,792 (2,303)

Earnings (loss) before cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏ (39,128) 27,436 14,634
Cumulative eÅect of accounting change (Note 1 (d)) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (29,195) Ì

Net earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(39,128) $ (1,759) $ 14,634

Basic earnings (loss) per share (Note 15):
Earnings from continuing operations before discontinued

operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏ $ 0.15 $ 0.50 $ 0.43
Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.95) 0.07 (0.06)
Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.61) Ì

Net earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.80) $ (0.04) $ 0.37

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (Note 15):
Earnings from continuing operations before discontinued

operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏ $ 0.15 $ 0.48 $ 0.42
Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.94) 0.07 (0.06)
Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.59) Ì

Net earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.79) $ (0.04) $ 0.36

Pro forma amounts, assuming the new accounting method is applied
retroactively (Note 1(d)):

Earnings from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,295

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.13

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.13

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2000 1999

(In thousands,
except share and
per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 23,870 $ 22,315
Receivables:

Contract receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $5,243 in 2000 and $3,624 in 1999 67,399 61,722
Employee advances and miscellaneous receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,073 8,553

Total receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72,472 70,275

Prepaid expenses and other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,470 2,109
Deferred income taxes (Note 6) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,565 5,814
Net assets of discontinued operations (Note 2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,534 101,101

Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 191,911 201,614

Property and equipment:
Computer and other equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49,708 42,803
Furniture and Ñxtures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,755 4,046
Land and buildings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,412
Leasehold improvementsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,957 5,217

59,420 53,478
Less accumulated depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32,516 20,453

Property and equipment, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,904 33,025

Noncompete agreements, less accumulated amortization of $6,707 in 2000 and $5,796 in 1999 ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 937 1,711
Deferred loan costs, less accumulated amortization of $1,341 in 2000 and $795 in 1999ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,701 1,492
Goodwill, less accumulated amortization of $23,469 in 2000 and $12,842 in 1999 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 235,153 240,775
Deferred income taxes (Note 6) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,236 5,505
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,989 597

$464,831 $484,719

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Notes payable to bank ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 736
Current installments of long-term debt (Note 4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 391 1,014
Accounts payable and accrued expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,284 13,224
Accrued business acquisition consideration (Note 10) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,567 40,000
Accrued payroll and related expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38,017 33,051
Deferred tax recovery audit revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 694 1,423

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 63,953 89,448
Long-term debt, excluding current installments (Note 4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 154,563 95,294
Deferred compensation (Note 7) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,615 4,656
Other long-term liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,544 2,821

Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 225,675 192,219

Shareholders' equity (Notes 2, 4, 7, 8, 10 and 11):
Preferred stock, no par value. Authorized 500,000 shares; no shares issued or outstanding in 2000

and 1999 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì
Participating preferred stock, no par value. Authorized 500,000 shares; no shares issued or

outstanding in 2000 and 1999ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì
Common stock, no par value; $.001 stated value per share. Authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued

49,912,231 shares in 2000 and 49,363,044 shares in 1999 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50 49
Additional paid-in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 316,127 302,455
Accumulated deÑcit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (40,035) (907)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (14,237) (9,097)
Treasury stock at cost, 2,435,990 shares in 2000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (21,024) Ì
Unearned portion of restricted stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,725) Ì

Total shareholders' equityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 239,156 292,500

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 9, and 10)
$464,831 $484,719

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Retained (Loss) Foreign Unearned

Additional Earnings Currency Portion of Total
Common Stock Paid-In (Accumulated Translation Treasury Restricted Comprehensive Shareholders'
Shares Amount Capital DeÑcit) Adjustments Stock Stock Income (Loss) Equity

(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 1997 34,981 $35 $ 57,629 $(10,964) $ (1,149) $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì $ 45,551
Comprehensive income:

Net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 14,634 Ì Ì Ì 14,634 14,634
Other comprehensive loss Ì

foreign currency translation
adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (1,176) Ì Ì (1,176) (1,176)

Comprehensive incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 13,458 Ì
Issuances of common stock:

Issuances under employee
stock option plans
(including tax beneÑts of
$1,096) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 341 Ì 4,365 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 4,365

Other common stock
issuancesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,926 7 81,163 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 81,170

Distributions to former Sub S
shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (439) Ì Ì Ì Ì (439)

Balance at December 31, 1998 42,248 42 143,157 3,231 (2,325) Ì Ì Ì 144,105
ReclassiÑcation of S

Corporation earnings of PRS Ì Ì 1,766 (1,766) Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (1,759) Ì Ì Ì (1,759) (1,759)
Other comprehensive loss Ì

foreign currency translation
adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (6,772) Ì Ì (6,772) (6,772)

Comprehensive lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (8,531) Ì
Issuances of common stock:

Issuances under employee
stock option plans
(including tax beneÑts of
$3,551) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 421 Ì 7,599 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 7,599

Other common stock
issuancesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,657 6 118,504 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 118,510

Distributions to former Sub S
shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (613) Ì Ì Ì Ì (613)

Conversion of shareholder loans 1,037 1 30,391 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 30,392
Transaction costs paid directly

by shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 1,070 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 1,070
Fractional shares paid in cash ÏÏ Ì Ì (32) Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (32)

Balance at December 31, 1999 49,363 49 302,455 (907) (9,097) Ì Ì Ì 292,500
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (39,128) Ì Ì Ì (39,128) (39,128)
Other comprehensive loss Ì

foreign currency translation
adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (5,140) Ì Ì (5,140) (5,140)

Comprehensive lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (44,268) Ì
Issuances of common stock:

Issuances under employee
stock option plans
(including tax beneÑts of
$2,165) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 241 1 7,770 Ì Ì Ì (1,725) Ì 6,046

Other common stock
issuancesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 308 Ì 5,902 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 5,902

Treasury shares repurchased
(2,436 shares) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (21,024) Ì Ì (21,024)

Balance at December 31, 2000 49,912 $50 $316,127 $(40,035) $(14,237) $(21,024) $(1,725) $ Ì $239,156

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

(In thousands)

Cash Öows from operating activities:
Net earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(39,128) $ (1,759) $ 14,634
Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 29,195 Ì
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46,464 (3,792) 2,303

Earnings from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,336 23,644 16,937
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,880 19,120 11,203
Loss on sale of property and equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 47 168
Restricted stock compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 247 Ì Ì
Interest accrued on shareholder loansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 860 Ì
Deferred compensation expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 950 783 890
Deferred income taxes, net of cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,482) (115) 3,826

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of eÅects of acquisitions:
Receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,488) (40,953) (35,400)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,499) 531 (41)
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,391) 1,005 (443)
Accounts payable and accrued expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,763 (3,290) (1,135)
Accrued payroll and related expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,450 4,303 19,156
Deferred tax recovery audit revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (630) (57) 125
Other long-term liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,633) (402) 139

Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 33,503 5,476 15,425

Cash Öows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,730) (18,062) (17,628)
Acquisitions of businesses (net of cash acquired)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (44,000) (27,191) (79,008)

Net cash used in investing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (51,730) (45,253) (96,636)

Cash Öows from Ñnancing activities:
Net proceeds (repayments) of notes payable to bank ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,187) 686 (31)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 60,635 75,399 112,640
Proceeds from loans from shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 2,061 Ì
Acquisition costs paid directly by former PRS shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,070 Ì
Repayments of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (96,527) (24,924)
Payments for deferred loan costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (650) (249) (1,797)
Net proceeds from common stock issuances ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,784 102,575 43,031
Distributions to former Sub S shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (613) (439)
Purchase of treasury shares ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (21,024) Ì Ì

Net cash provided by Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 43,558 84,402 128,480

Net cash used in discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (24,271) (50,310) (39,195)
EÅect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 495 Ì Ì

Net change in cash and cash equivalentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,555 (5,685) 8,074
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22,315 28,000 19,926

Cash and cash equivalents at end of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 23,870 $ 22,315 $ 28,000

Supplemental disclosure of cash Öow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,340 $ 2,518 $ 2,274

Cash paid during the year for income taxes, net of refunds received ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 14,120 $ 15,451 $ 6,493

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and Ñnancing activities:
In conjunction with acquisitions of businesses, the Company assumed liabilities as

follows:
Fair value of assets acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 67,729 $112,479 $ 199,034
Cash paid for the acquisitions(net of cash acquired) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (66,294) (75,821) (113,340)
Fair value of shares issued for acquisitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (725) (23,267) (42,504)

Liabilities assumed ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 710 $ 13,391 $ 43,190

Shareholder loans contributed to capital by former equity shareholders of
MeridianÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 30,391 $ Ì

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Description of Business

The principal business of The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc. and subsidiaries (the ""Com-
pany'') is providing recovery audit, expense containment and knowledge application services to large and mid-
size businesses having numerous payment transactions with many vendors. These businesses include, but are
not limited to, the following:

‚ retailers such as discount, department, specialty, grocery and drug stores;

‚ manufacturers of pharmaceuticals, consumer electronics, chemicals and aerospace and medical
products;

‚ wholesale distributors of computer components, food products and pharmaceuticals; and

‚ healthcare providers such as hospitals and health maintenance organizations.

The Company currently services approximately 2,500 clients in over 33 diÅerent countries outside the
United States.

Basis of Presentation

As indicated in Note 1 (d), the Company made the decision in the second quarter of 1999, to recognize
revenue on all of its then existing operations when it invoices clients for its fee, retroactive to January 1, 1999.
In accordance with the applicable requirements of accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, Ñnancial statements for periods prior to 1999 have not been restated. As a result, certain
Ñnancial statement amounts for 1999 will not be directly comparable to corresponding amounts for 1998.

As indicated in Note 10, the Company acquired PRS International, Ltd. (""PRS'') in August 1999. This
acquisition was accounted for as a pooling-of-interests. Accordingly, the Company's previously reported
consolidated Ñnancial statements for all prior periods have been retroactively restated, as required under
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, to include the accounts of PRS.

On July 20, 1999, the Company declared a 3-for-2 stock split eÅected in the form of a stock dividend for
shareholders of record on August 2, 1999, payable on August 17, 1999. All share and per share amounts have
been retroactively restated to give eÅect to the aforementioned stock split.

Certain reclassiÑcations have been made to 1999 and 1998 amounts to conform to the presentation in
2000.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated Ñnancial statements include the Ñnancial statements of the Company and its wholly and
majority owned subsidiaries. All signiÑcant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these Ñnancial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Actual results could diÅer from those
estimates. A material estimate that is particularly susceptible to change is the estimation of uncollectible
claims when the submitted claims basis of revenue recognition is used (see (d) Revenue Recognition).
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THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

(c) Discontinued Operations

Financial statements for years prior to 2000 have been restated to separately report results of discontinued
operations from results of continuing operations. Disclosures included herein pertain to the Company's
continuing operations unless otherwise noted.

(d) Revenue Recognition

Due to the Company's continuing and substantial expansion beyond its historical client base and original
service oÅerings, as well as the administrative desirability of standardizing revenue recognition practices, the
Company made the decision at the conclusion of the second quarter of 1999 to recognize revenue on all of its
then existing operations when it invoices clients for its fee. Accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America required that this change be implemented retroactively to January 1, 1999. The
Company had previously recognized revenue from services provided to its historical client base (consisting of
retailers, wholesale distributors and governmental agencies) at the time overpayment claims were presented to
and approved by its clients. In eÅecting this change, the Company has reported, as of January 1, 1999, a non-
cash, after-tax charge of $29.2 million as the cumulative eÅect of a change in an accounting principle. The
cumulative eÅect of the accounting change was derived as follows (in thousands):

Unbilled contract receivables at December 31, 1998, as adjustedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 69,432
Less: auditor payroll accrual at December 31, 1998 associated with unbilled contract

receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (21,564)

Subtotal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47,868
Less: related income tax eÅect at 39.0% ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (18,673)

Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 29,195

During years ended December 31, 1998 and prior, the Company recognized revenues on services provided
to its historical client base at the time overpayment claims were presented to and approved by its clients, as
adjusted for estimated uncollectible claims. Estimated uncollectible claims were initially established, and
subsequently adjusted, for each individual client based upon historical collection rates, types of claims
identiÑed, current industry conditions, and other factors which, in the opinion of management, deserved
recognition. Under this submitted claims basis of revenue recognition, as applied to the Company's historical
client base, the Company recorded revenues at estimated net realizable value without reserves. Accordingly,
adjustments to uncollectible claim estimates were directly charged or credited to earnings, as appropriate.

The Company's revenue recognition policy has been revised, eÅective January 1, 1999, as follows:

The Company's revenues are based on speciÑc contracts with its clients. Such contracts generally specify
(a) time periods covered by the audit, (b) nature and extent of audit services to be provided by the Company,
(c) client's duties in assisting and cooperating with the Company, and (d) fees payable to the Company
generally expressed as a speciÑed percentage of the amounts recovered by the client resulting from liability
overpayment claims identiÑed.

In addition to contractual provisions, most clients also establish speciÑc procedural guidelines which the
Company must satisfy prior to submitting claims for client approval. These guidelines are unique to each
client and impose speciÑc requirements on the Company such as adherence to vendor interaction protocols,
provision of advance written notiÑcation to vendors of forthcoming claims, securing written claim validity
concurrence from designated client personnel and, in limited cases, securing written claim validity concur-
rence from the involved vendors. Approved claims are processed by clients and generally taken as credits
against outstanding payables or future purchases from the vendors involved. The Company recognizes
revenues on the invoice basis. Clients are invoiced for a contractually speciÑed percentage of amounts
recovered when it has been determined that they have received economic value, (generally through credits

37



THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

taken against existing accounts payable due to the involved vendors or refund checks received from those
vendors), and when the following criteria are met: (a) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
(b) services have been rendered; (c) the fee billed to the client is Ñxed or determinable and (d) collectibility
is reasonably assured.

(e) Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents at December 31, 2000 and 1999 included $0.9 million and $-0- million, respectively, of
temporary investments held at U.S. banks. Cash equivalents at December 31, 2000 and 1999 also included
$7.1 million and $5.1 million, respectively, held at a French bank by certain of the Company's French
subsidiaries.

From time to time, the Company invests excess cash in reverse repurchase agreements with Bank of
America, which are fully collateralized by United States of America Treasury Notes in the possession of such
bank. The Company does not intend to take possession of collateral securities on future reverse repurchase
agreement transactions conducted with banking institutions of national standing. The Company does insist,
however, that all such agreements provide for full collateralization using obligations of the United States of
America having a current market value equivalent to or exceeding the reverse repurchase agreement amount.
No such reverse purchase agreements were outstanding at December 31, 2000 or 1999.

(f) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets (3 years for computer and other equipment and 5 years for furniture
and Ñxtures). Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the
lease term or estimated life of the asset. Internally developed software is amortized over expected useful lives
ranging from three to seven years.

(g) Direct Expenses

Direct expenses incurred during the course of accounts payable audits and other recovery audit services
are expensed as incurred.

(h) Internal Use Computer Software

Statement of Position 98-1, ""Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
Internal Use'' provides guidance on a variety of issues relating to costs of internal use software including which
of these costs should be capitalized and which should be expensed as incurred. This pronouncement became
eÅective for Ñscal years beginning after December 15, 1998 although earlier application was encouraged. The
Company chose to early adopt this pronouncement eÅective January 1, 1998 since it provides deÑnitive
accounting guidance on a large-scale information systems development project initiated by the Company
during the Ñrst quarter of 1998.

(i) Intangibles

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair market value of
net assets of acquired businesses. The Company evaluates the unique relevant aspects of each individual
acquisition when establishing an appropriate goodwill amortization period, and amortizes all goodwill amounts
on a straight-line basis. Goodwill recorded as of December 31, 2000 is being amortized over periods ranging
from seven to 25 years. The Company assesses the recoverability of this intangible asset by determining
whether the amortization of the goodwill balance over its remaining life can be recovered through
undiscounted future operating cash Öows of the acquired operation. The amount of goodwill impairment, if
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any, is measured based on projected discounted future operating cash Öows using a discount rate reÖecting the
Company's average cost of funds. The assessment of the recoverability of goodwill will be impacted if
projected future operating cash Öows are not achieved.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company determined that the net book value of goodwill recorded
for one of the Company's business units exceeded the projected undiscounted future operating cash Öows of
that business unit. Accordingly, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $3.0
million to adjust the net book value of the goodwill to the sum of the projected discounted future operating
cash Öows.

Noncompete Agreements. Noncompete agreements are recorded at cost and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the respective agreements.

Deferred Loan Costs. Deferred loan costs are recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the respective loan agreements.

(j) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to diÅerences between the Ñnancial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary diÅerences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The eÅect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period
that includes the enactment date.

(k) Foreign Currency Translation

The local currency has been used as the functional currency in the countries in which the Company
conducts business outside of the United States. The assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are
translated into U.S. dollars at the current rates of exchange at the balance sheet date and revenues and
expenses are translated at the average monthly exchange rates. The translation gains and losses are included as
a separate component of shareholders' equity. Translation gains and losses included in results of operations are
not material.

(l) Earnings Per Share

The Company applies the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (""SFAS'')
No. 128, ""Earnings per Share.'' Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is
computed by dividing net earnings by the sum of (1) the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the year, (2) the dilutive eÅect of the assumed exercise of stock options using the treasury
stock method, and (3) dilutive eÅect of other potentially dilutive securities.

(m) Employee Stock Options

The Company accounts for its stock option plan in accordance with the provisions of Accounting
Principles Board (""APB'') Opinion No. 25, ""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,'' and related
interpretations. As such, compensation expense would be measured on the date of grant only if the current
market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price. The Company has elected to continue to
apply the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and provide pro forma net earnings and pro forma earnings per
share disclosures for employee stock option grants made in 1995 and future years as if the fair-value-based
method deÑned in SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,'' had been applied. The
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options granted generally vest and become fully exercisable on a ratable basis over four or Ñve years of
continued employment. The Company recognizes compensation expense on the straight line basis for
compensatory stock awards with ratable vesting.

(n) Comprehensive Income

EÅective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted SFAS No. 130, ""Reporting Comprehensive Income.''
This statement establishes rules for the reporting of comprehensive income and its components. Comprehen-
sive income for the Company consists of net earnings (loss) and foreign currency translation adjustments, and
is presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity. The adoption of SFAS
No. 130 had no impact on total shareholders' equity. Prior year Ñnancial statements have been reclassiÑed to
conform to the SFAS No. 130 requirements.

(2) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In March 2001, the Company formalized a strategic realignment initiative designed to enhance the
Company's Ñnancial position and clarify its investment and operating strategy by focusing primarily on its core
Accounts Payable business. Under this strategic realignment initiative, the Company will divest of the
following non-core businesses: Meridian VAT Reclaim (""Meridian'') within the former Taxation Services
segment, the Logistics Management Services segment, the Communications Services segment and the Ship
and Debit (""Ship & Debit'') division within the Accounts Payable Services segment.

The non-core businesses to be divested are comprised of various acquisitions completed by the Company
during the periods 1997 through 2000. The acquisition of Meridian was accounted for as a pooling-of-interests,
in which the Company issued 6,114,375 unregistered shares of the Company's common stock. The other
acquisitions which comprise the remainder of non-core businesses to be divested were accounted for as
purchases with collective consideration paid of $61.5 million in cash and 2,044,206 restricted, unregistered
shares of the Company's common stock.

The Company's consolidated Ñnancial statements have been restated to reÖect Meridian, Logistics
Management Services, Communications Services, and Ship & Debit as discontinued operations for all periods
presented. Operating results of the discontinued operations are summarized below. The amounts exclude
general corporate overhead previously allocated to Meridian, Logistics Management Services and Communi-
cations Services for segment reporting purposes. The amounts include interest on debt and an allocation of the
interest on the Company's general credit facility. Interest allocated to discontinued operations was $2.9
million, $0.9 million and $1.4 million in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Summarized Ñnancial information for the discontinued operations is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

(In thousands)

Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $80,850 $69,280 $35,286

December 31,

2000 1999

(In thousands)

Current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 43,069 $ 49,878
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 125,936 139,673
Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46,200 38,572
Total liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46,402 38,572
Net assets of discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,534 101,101
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(a) Charges Taken in Discontinued Operations

During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company recognized approximately $29.4 million of nonrecurring
charges (including goodwill impairment charges) related to discontinued operations.

The Company determined that the net book value of goodwill recorded for certain of the discontinued
operations exceeded the projected undiscounted future operating cash Öows of those business units.
Accordingly, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $25.7 million to adjust
the net book value of the goodwill to the sum of the projected discounted future operating cash Öows.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company recognized charges of approximately $2.4
million related to the write-oÅ of certain accounts receivable balances that were determined to be
uncollectible, $0.8 million for employee termination beneÑts, $0.3 million related to the forgiveness of certain
employee advances and $0.2 million in exit costs related to certain facilities.

(b) Revenue Recognition Ì Conversion to Cash Basis for Certain Discontinued Operations

In consideration of guidance issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission under StaÅ Accounting
Bulletin No. 101, ""Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements'' (""SAB 101''), the Company has changed
its method of accounting for revenues for Meridian retroactively to January 1, 2000. Based upon the guidance
in SAB 101, the Company defers recognition of revenues to the accounting period when cash received from
the foreign governments reimbursing value-added tax claims is transferred to Meridian's clients. In 1999 and
prior periods, under the prior method of accounting, revenues were recognized at the time refund claims
containing all required documentation were Ñled with appropriate governmental agencies in those instances
where historical refund disallowance rates could be accurately estimated. The Company has recorded a non-
cash, after-tax charge as of January 1, 2000, of $24.1 million related to Meridian's cumulative eÅect of a
change in accounting principle as part of the loss from discontinued operations.

Additionally, in consideration of the guidance under SAB 101, the Company has changed its method of
accounting for revenues for Ship & Debit retroactively to January 1, 2000. Based upon the guidance, the
Company defers recognition of revenues to the accounting period when cash is received by the client. In 1999
and prior periods, under the prior method of accounting, revenues were recognized at the time that the
Company invoiced clients for its fee. The Company has recorded a non-cash, after-tax charge as of January 1,
2000 of $2.0 million related to Ship & Debit's cumulative eÅect of a change in accounting principle as part of
the loss from discontinued operations.

(3) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Financial advisory and management services historically have been provided to the Company by two
directors who are also shareholders of the Company. Such services by directors aggregated $39,000 in 2000,
$64,000 in 1999, and $140,000 in 1998. The Company will continue to utilize the services provided by one
director, and, as such, has agreed to pay that director a minimum of $72,000 in 2001 for Ñnancial advisory and
management services.

As indicated in Note 2, the Company acquired Meridian in August 1999 in a transaction accounted for as
a pooling-of-interests. Accordingly, the Company's previously reported consolidated Ñnancial statements for
all periods presented (which are now included in discontinued operations) have been retroactively restated, as
required under generally accepted accounting principles, to include the accounts of Meridian. As of
December 31, 1998, Meridian's separate balance sheet included $27.5 million in long-term loans due to its two
principal shareholders. These loans plus additional borrowings in 1999 were converted into equity at their
estimated fair value during August 1999 concurrent with completion of the merger.
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(4) LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt is summarized as follows:

December 31,

2000 1999

(In thousands)

Principal outstanding under $200.0 million senior bank credit facility
(with weighted average interest rates of 7.45% and 7.24% at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively). Principal due on July 29,
2003 at credit facility maturityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $153,361 $92,811

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,593 3,497

154,954 96,308
Less current installmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 391 1,014

Long-term debt, excluding current installments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $154,563 $95,294

On July 29, 1998, the Company replaced its then existing $30.0 million senior bank credit facility with a
Ñve-year, $150.0 million senior bank credit facility. Subject to adherence to standard loan covenants,
borrowings under the new credit facility are available for working capital, acquisitions of other companies in
the recovery audit industry, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes. The Company transferred
$5.4 million in outstanding borrowings to the new credit facility on July 29, 1998. On September 18, 1998, the
Company increased its credit facility from $150.0 million to $200.0 million and the facility was syndicated
between nine banking institutions led by NationsBank, N.A. (now Bank of America) as agent for the group.
The Company is not required to make principal payments under the credit facility until its maturity on
July 29, 2003 unless the Company violates its debt covenants. The credit facility is secured by substantially all
assets of the Company and interest on borrowings can be tied to either prime or LIBOR at the Company's
discretion. The credit facility requires a fee for committed but unused credit capacity which can range between
.20% and .50% per annum depending upon the Company's leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2000, the
applicable rate for unused credit capacity was .50%. The credit facility contains customary covenants,
including Ñnancial ratios and the prohibition of cash dividend payments to shareholders. At December 31,
2000, the Company was in compliance with all such covenants.

Approximate future minimum annual principal payments for long-term debt for each of the four years
subsequent to December 31, 2000 are as follows (in thousands):

2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 391
2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 658
2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 153,765
2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 140

$154,954
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(5) LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company is committed under noncancelable operating lease arrangements for facilities and
equipment. Rent expense for 2000, 1999, and 1998 was $7.6 million, $7.5 million, and $5.5 million,
respectively. The future minimum annual lease payments under these leases by year are summarized as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6,765
2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,717
2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,990
2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,583
2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 447
Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3

$20,505

(6) INCOME TAXES

Total income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 were allocated as follows:

2000 1999 1998

Earnings from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,313 $ 15,632 $ 9,948
Discontinued operations, including accounting change of

$(1,268) in 2000. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11,141) 4,434 1,880
Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (18,673) Ì
Shareholders' equity, for compensation expense for tax

purposes in excess of Ñnancial purposes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,213) (3,551) (1,096)

$(8,041) $ (2,158) $10,732

Income taxes have been provided in accordance with SFAS No. 109, ""Accounting for Income Taxes''.
Earnings before income taxes, discontinued operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change for the
years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 relate to the following jurisdictions (in thousands):

2000 1999 1998

United StatesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,182 $31,873 $17,547
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,467 7,403 9,338

$12,649 $39,276 $26,885
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The provision for income taxes attributable to earnings from continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 consists of the following (in thousands):

2000 1999 1998

Current:
Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $5,598 $10,725 $1,459
State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 280 1,054 474
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,928 5,224 3,892

11,806 17,003 5,825

Deferred:
Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,983) (858) 2,205
State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (661) (266) 271
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 151 (247) 1,647

(6,493) (1,371) 4,123

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $5,313 $15,632 $9,948

The following table summarizes the signiÑcant diÅerences between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate and
the Company's eÅective tax rate for earnings from continuing operations:

2000 1999 1998

Statutory federal income tax rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35% 35% 35%
Foreign loss providing no tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2 2 1
State income taxes, net of federal beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4) 2 3
Nondeductible goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 1 1
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4 Ì (3)

42% 40% 37%
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A summary of the components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2000 and 1999
follows (in thousands):

2000 1999

Deferred income tax assets:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,577 $ 2,101
Accrued payroll and related expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,904 3,011
Deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,204 1,796
Depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,560 786
Noncompete agreements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,548 1,129
Bad debts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,020 153
Realignment charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,016 Ì
Foreign operating loss carryforward of foreign subsidiary ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,648 2,632
Foreign tax credit carryforwardsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 394 2,179
State operating loss carryforwards ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 445 337
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,574 2,093

Gross deferred tax assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,890 16,217

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 82 24
Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,607 2,038
Capitalized softwareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,856 1,586

Gross deferred tax liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,545 3,648

Less valuation allowanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,544) (1,250)

Net deferred tax assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $18,801 $11,319

SFAS No. 109 requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The valuation allowance as of
December 31, 2000 and 1999 relates to the tax beneÑt of certain foreign operating losses associated with the
Company's foreign subsidiary in Singapore. No other valuation allowances were deemed necessary for any
other deferred tax assets since all deductible temporary diÅerences are expected to be utilized primarily
against reversals of taxable temporary diÅerences, and net operating loss carryforwards and foreign tax credit
carryforwards are expected to be utilized through related future taxable and foreign source earnings.

As of December 31, 2000, the Company had foreign income tax credit carryforwards amounting to $0.4
million, which will expire in 2005. The Company expects to generate suÇcient foreign-sourced income by
implementing reasonable tax planning strategies to fully utilize the foreign income tax credit carryforwards.
Appropriate U.S. and international taxes have been recognized for earnings of subsidiary companies that are
expected to be remitted to the parent company. As of December 31, 2000, the cumulative amount of
unremitted earnings from the Company's international subsidiaries that is expected to be indeÑnitely
reinvested was zero.

(7) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company maintains a 401(k) Plan in accordance with Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue
Code, which allows eligible participating employees to defer receipt of a portion of their compensation up to
15% and contribute such amount to one or more investment funds. Employee contributions are matched by
the Company in a discretionary amount to be determined by the Company each plan year up to $1,500 per
participant. The Company may also make discretionary contributions to the Plan as determined by the
Company each plan year. Company matching funds and discretionary contributions vest at the rate of 20%

45



THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

each year beginning after the participants' Ñrst year of service. Company contributions for continuing and
discontinued operations were approximately $1.2 million in 2000, $0.5 million in 1999 and $0.4 million in
1998.

The Company also maintains deferred compensation arrangements for certain key oÇcers and executives.
Total expense related to these deferred compensation arrangements was approximately $0.9 million, $0.8
million and $0.9 million in 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

EÅective May 15, 1997, the Company established an employee stock purchase plan pursuant to
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The plan covers 1,125,000 shares of the
Company's common stock which may be authorized unissued shares, reacquired shares or shares bought on
the open market. Through December 31, 2000, share certiÑcates for 249,131 shares had been issued to
employees under the plan. The Company is not required to recognize compensation expense related to this
plan.

(8) SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

On August 14, 2000, the Company issued 286,000 restricted shares of its common stock to certain
employees (the ""Stock Awards''). Of the total restricted shares issued, 135,000 restricted shares vest on a
ratable basis over Ñve years of continued employment. The remaining 151,000 restricted shares vest at the end
of Ñve years of continued employment. At December 31, 2000, 92,000 shares of the restricted common stock
had been forfeited by former employees. Until vested, the restricted stock is nontransferable. The holders of
the restricted shares are entitled to all other rights as a shareholder. Over the life of the Stock Awards, the
Company will recognize $1.8 million in compensation expense. For the year ended December 31, 2000, the
Company has recognized $0.1 million of compensation expense related to the Stock Awards.

On August 1, 2000, the Company's Board of Directors (the ""Board'') authorized a shareholder
protection plan designed to protect Company shareholders from coercive or unfair takeover techniques
through the use of a shareholder protection rights agreement approved by the Board (the ""Agreement''). The
terms of the Agreement provide for a dividend of one right (collectively, the ""Rights'') to purchase a fraction
of a share of participating preferred stock for each share owned. This dividend was declared for each share of
common stock outstanding at the close of business on August 14, 2000. The Rights, which expire on
August 14, 2010, may be exercised only if certain conditions are met, such as the acquisition (or the
announcement of a tender oÅer the consummation of which would result in the acquisition) of 15% or more of
the Company's common stock by a person or aÇliated group. Issuance of the Rights does not aÅect the
Ñnances of the Company, interfere with the Company's operations or business plans or aÅect earnings per
share. The dividend is not taxable to the Company or its shareholders and does not change the way in which
the Company's shares may be traded.

EÅective July 31, 2000, the Board amended the Company's Articles of Incorporation to establish a new
class of stock, the participating preferred stock. The Board authorized 500,000 shares of the participating
preferred stock, none of which have been issued.

On July 26, 2000, the Board approved a share repurchase program. Under the share repurchase program,
the Company could buy up to $40.0 million of its outstanding common stock. On October 24, 2000, the Board
approved an increase of $10.0 million to the share repurchase plan, bringing the total the Company is
authorized to spend to repurchase shares of its outstanding common stock in the open market to $50.0 million.
As of December 31, 2000, the Company had repurchased approximately 2.4 million shares under the program
at a cost of approximately $21.0 million.

On July 20, 1999, the Company declared a 3-for-2 stock split eÅected in the form of a stock dividend for
shareholders of record on August 2, 1999, payable on August 17, 1999. All share and per share amounts have
been retroactively restated to give eÅect to the aforementioned stock split.
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On January 8, 1999, the Company sold 4.1 million newly issued shares of its common stock and certain
selling shareholders sold an additional 1.2 million outstanding shares in an underwritten follow-on oÅering.
The oÅering was priced at $22.67 per share. The proceeds of the oÅering (net of underwriting discounts and
commissions) were distributed by the underwriting syndicate on January 13, 1999. The net proceeds from the
4.1 million shares sold by the Company, combined with the net proceeds from an additional 286,500 shares
subsequently sold by the Company in late January 1999 upon exercise by the underwriting syndicate of their
over-allotment option, were applied to reduce outstanding borrowings under the Company's $200.0 million
bank credit facility. Additionally, 501,000 shares were sold in late January 1999 by certain selling shareholders
in connection with the over-allotment option. The Company received no proceeds from the sale of such shares.

On March 16, 1998, the Company sold 3.0 million newly issued shares of its common stock and certain
selling shareholders sold an additional 3.6 million outstanding shares in an underwritten follow-on oÅering.
The oÅering was priced at $14.00 per share. The proceeds of the oÅering (net of underwriting discounts and
commissions) were distributed by the underwriting syndicate on March 20, 1998. The Company then used a
portion of its net proceeds from the oÅering to repay the $24.8 million outstanding principal balance on its
bank credit facility, along with accrued interest, on March 20, 1998. In April 1998, the Company received
notiÑcation from its underwriting syndicate that the syndicate had exercised its full over-allotment option to
purchase an additional 990,000 shares of Company common stock. All of these shares were then sold to the
syndicate by certain selling shareholders. The Company received no proceeds from the sale of such shares.

The Company has issued no preferred stock through December 31, 2000, and has no present intentions to
issue any preferred stock, except for any potential issuance of participating preferred stock (500,000 shares
authorized) pursuant to the shareholders protection rights agreement. The Company's other category of
preferred stock (1,000,000 shares authorized) may be issued at any time or from time to time in one or more
series with such designations, powers, preferences, rights, qualiÑcations, limitations and restrictions (including
dividend, conversion and voting rights) as may be determined by the Company's Board of Directors, without
any further votes or action by the shareholders.

(9) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Beginning on June 6, 2000, three putative class action lawsuits were Ñled against the Company and
certain of its present and former oÇcers in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Georgia, Atlanta Division. These cases were subsequently consolidated into one proceeding styled: In re ProÑt
Recovery Group International, Inc. Sec. Litig., Civil Action File No. 1:00-CV-1416-CC (the ""Securities Class
Action Litigation''). On November 13, 2000, the PlaintiÅs in these cases Ñled a Consolidated and Amended
Complaint (the ""Complaint''). In that Complaint, PlaintiÅs allege that the Company, John M. Cook, Scott L.
Colabuono, and Michael A. Lustig (the ""Defendants'') violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by allegedly disseminating materially false and
misleading information about a change in the Company's method of recognizing revenue and in connection
with revenue reported for a division. PlaintiÅs purport to bring this action on behalf of a putative class of
persons who purchased the Company's stock between July 19, 1999 and July 26, 2000. PlaintiÅs seek an
unspeciÑed amount of compensatory damages, payment of litigation fees and expenses, and equitable and/or
injunctive relief. On January 24, 2001, Defendants Ñled a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint for failure to state
a claim under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, 15 U.S.C. Û 78u-4 et seq. PlaintiÅs Ñled their
response to the Motion to Dismiss March 12, 2001 and Defendant's reply in support of that Motion is due on
April 11, 2001. The Company believes the alleged claims in this lawsuit are without merit. The Company
intends to defend this lawsuit vigorously. Due to the inherent uncertainties of the litigation process and the
judicial system, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of this litigation. If the outcome of this
litigation is adverse to the Company, it could have a material adverse eÅect on the Company's business,
Ñnancial condition, and results of operations.
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In the normal course of business, the Company is involved in and subject to other claims, contractual
disputes and other uncertainties. Management, after reviewing with legal counsel all of these actions and
proceedings, believes that the aggregate losses, if any, will not have a material adverse eÅect on the Company's
Ñnancial position or results of operations.

(10) ACQUISITIONS

On July 30, 1998, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Novexel S.A., a Lyon,
France-based company that assists business entities in securing European Union grants. This transaction was
accounted for as a purchase and involved cash of $3.7 million and 248,795 restricted, unregistered shares of
the Company's common stock valued at $12.29 per share. This acquisition resulted in goodwill of $6.1 million
which is being amortized over 20 years using the straight-line method.

On August 6, 1998, the Company acquired substantially all the assets and assumed certain liabilities of
Loder, Drew & Associates, Inc. (""Loder Drew''), a California-based international recovery auditing Ñrm
primarily serving clients in the manufacturing, Ñnancial services and other non-retail sectors. The transaction
was accounted for as a purchase with initial consideration of $70.0 million in cash and 1.2 million restricted,
unregistered shares of the Company's common stock valued at $11.05 per share. Additionally, the prior owners
of Loder Drew received further purchase price consideration in March 1999 of $30.0 million in cash based on
the Ñnancial performance of Loder Drew for the nine month period ended December 31, 1998, and purchase
price consideration of $40.0 million in cash in the Ñrst quarter of 2000 based on the Ñnancial performance of
Loder Drew for the year ending December 31, 1999. This acquisition resulted in Ñnal goodwill at
December 31, 1999 of $153.6 million which is being amortized over 25 years using the straight-line method.

On September 28, 1998, the Company acquired the net assets of Cost Recovery Professionals Pty Ltd, an
Australia-based recovery auditing Ñrm primarily serving clients in the retail sector. The transaction was
accounted for as a purchase with consideration of $1.4 million and 150,000 restricted, unregistered shares of
the Company's common stock valued at $12.31 per share. This acquisition resulted in goodwill of $3.3 million
which is being amortized over 25 years using the straight-line method.

On October 29, 1998, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common stock of Robert
Beck & Associates, Inc. (""RBA''), a direct retail sector recovery auditing competitor based in Ringwood,
Illinois. The Company also simultaneously purchased either the common stock or substantially all net assets
of certain other entities that provided management services to RBA. These acquisitions were accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting, and the collective consideration paid for RBA and related entities
consisted of $26.1 million in cash and 966,651 restricted, unregistered shares of the Company's common stock
valued at $12.36 per share. These acquisitions resulted in goodwill of $36.9 million which is being amortized
over 25 years using the straight-line method.

On November 20, 1998, the Company acquired the net assets of IP Strategies SA, a Belgium-based Ñrm
that assists business entities in securing European Union grants. This transaction was accounted for as a
purchase and involved cash of $1.9 million and 119,349 restricted, unregistered shares of the Company's
common stock valued at $13.61 per share. This acquisition resulted in goodwill of $3.3 million which is being
amortized over 20 years using the straight-line method.

On August 31, 1999, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed substantially all
the liabilities of PRS International, Ltd. (""PRS''). PRS was a Texas-based recovery audit Ñrm servicing
primarily middle-market clients in a variety of industrial and commercial sectors. The transaction was
accounted for as a pooling-of-interests with consideration of 1,113,043 unregistered shares of the Company's
common stock.

On October 14, 1999, the Company signed a deÑnitive agreement with certain private shareholders to
acquire approximately 89% of the total outstanding shares of AP SA and its subsidiaries (collectively,
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""Groupe AP''), a tax recovery audit Ñrm which operates primarily within France. At the time the deÑnitive
agreement was signed, Groupe AP was publicly traded on the French over-the-counter market with
approximately 11% of its total outstanding shares publicly held. The Company initiated a cash tender for all
publicly-traded shares of Groupe AP in November 1999 and substantially all of the publicly-held shares were
subsequently tendered as of December 31, 1999. Acquisition of the 89% portion of Groupe AP shares held by
private shareholders was closed on November 15, 1999. The acquisition of Groupe AP was accounted for as a
purchase with aggregate initial consideration paid to public and private shareholders combined of $18.6
million in cash and 356,718 restricted, unregistered shares of the Company's common stock valued at $23.91
per share. In addition to the initial consideration received by the private shareholders of Groupe AP, these
shareholders are also eligible to receive additional purchase price consideration based upon the proÑtability of
Groupe AP for the two year period ending December 31, 2000 of up to 88.7 million French Francs
(approximately $12.7 million at December 31, 2000) payable no later than April 30, 2001 using a prescribed
combination of cash and restricted, unregistered shares of the Company's common stock. The Company
currently anticipates paying approximately $7.5 million in cash and $5.2 million in shares of the Company's
common stock. The acquisition resulted in goodwill through December 31, 2000 of $38.4 million which is
being amortized over 20 years using the straight-line method.

Results of operations for all 1998-1999 acquisitions accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting have been included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations from their
respective dates of acquisition except for (a) the August 6, 1998 acquisition of Loder Drew, which was
included eÅective July 1, 1998, (b) the October 29, 1998 acquisition of RBA, which was included eÅective
October 1, 1998 and (c) the November 15, 1999 acquisition of Groupe AP, which was included eÅective
October 14, 1999.

The following represents the summary (unaudited) pro forma results of operations as if the 1998 and
1999 acquisitions of Loder Drew and Alma, had occurred at the beginning of 1998 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

1998

Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $236,676

Net earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 16,486

Earnings per share:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.42

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.41

The Company has not included pro forma accrual basis results of operations for 1999 or for the various
smaller acquisitions it made during 1999 and 1998 since the entities involved are relatively small, and most of
them have historically maintained their respective accounting records using the cash basis of accounting. The
Company believes, however, that the pro forma accrual basis results of operations for these entities, if
determined, would not be signiÑcant, either individually or in the aggregate.
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The Consolidated Financial Statements for periods prior to the acquisition of PRS have been restated to
include the accounts and results of operations of PRS. The results of operations previously reported by the
separate enterprises and the combined amounts included in the accompanying Consolidated Financial
Statements are summarized below:

Six Months
Ended Year Ended

June 30, 1999 December 31, 1998

(Unaudited)

Revenues
The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $116,841 $192,135
PRS International, Ltd. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,606 14,724

Combined ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $126,447 $206,859

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations
The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(23,045) $ 16,530
PRS International, Ltd. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 870 407

Combined ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(22,175) $ 16,937

(11) STOCK OPTION PLAN

The Company's Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, has authorized the grant of options to purchase
10,875,000 shares of the Company's common stock to key employees, directors, consultants and advisors. The
substantial majority of options granted through December 31, 2000 have 10-year terms and vest and become
fully exercisable on a ratable basis over four or Ñve years of continued employment.

Pro forma information regarding net earnings and earnings per share is required by SFAS No. 123, and
has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value
method of that Statement. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for 2000, 1999 and 1998:

2000 1999 1998

Risk-free interest ratesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.12% 5.85% 5.00%
Dividend yields ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì
Volatility factor of expected market price ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ .716 .533 .550
Weighted-average expected life of option ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6 years 6 years 6 years

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded
options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models
require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Because the
Company's employee stock options have characteristics signiÑcantly diÅerent from those of traded options,
and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially aÅect the fair value estimate, in
management's opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair
value of its employee stock options.
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For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over
the options' vesting periods. The Company's pro forma information for the years ended December 31, 2000,
1999 and 1998 for continuing and discontinued operations, combined, is as follows (in thousands, except for
pro forma net earnings (loss) per share information):

2000 1999 1998

Net earnings (loss) before accounting change and pro forma
eÅect of compensation expense recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(39,128) $27,436 $14,634

Pro forma eÅect of compensation expense recognition provisions
of SFAS No. 123.ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,679) (6,146) (2,707)

Pro forma net earnings (loss) before accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(43,807) $21,290 $11,927

Pro forma net earnings (loss) per share before accounting change:
BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.90) $ 0.45 $ 0.30

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.88) $ 0.43 $ 0.30

A summary of the Company's stock option activity and related information for the years ended
December 31 follows:

2000 1999 1998

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding Ì beginning
of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,133,026 $18.18 5,450,419 $13.13 3,306,740 $ 8.29

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,981,690 14.21 2,344,775 27.94 2,578,350 18.34
Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (240,649) 8.58 (420,413) 8.15 (340,771) 6.20
ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,746,240) 23.85 (241,755) 16.48 (93,900) 11.41

Outstanding Ì end of
yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,127,827 $14.79 7,133,026 $18.18 5,450,419 $13.13

Exercisable at end of year 2,295,328 $11.42 1,448,711 $10.86 773,601 $ 7.83
Weighted average fair

value of options granted
during yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9.58 $ 16.02 $ 10.46

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2000:

ExercisableNumber Weighted- Weighted-
of Shares Average Average Number Weighted-

Range of Subject Remaining Exercise of Average
Exercise Prices to Option Life Price Shares Exercise Price

$3.53 - $10.99. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,793,385 5.52 years $ 8.32 1,415,469 $ 7.31
$11.00 - $25.00ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,049,567 7.76 years 18.19 761,154 15.93
Over $25.00 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,284,875 8.87 years 28.48 118,705 31.52

The weighted average remaining contract life of options outstanding at December 31, 2000 was 6.8 years.
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(12) MAJOR CLIENTS

The Company did not have any major clients during 2000, 1999 or 1998 which individually provided
revenues in excess of 10% of total revenues.

(13) OPERATING SEGMENTS AND RELATED INFORMATION

The Company has two reportable operating segments consisting of Accounts Payable Services, and
French Taxation Services. Each segment represents a strategic business unit that oÅers a diÅerent type of
recovery audit service. These business units are managed separately because each business requires diÅerent
technology and marketing strategies.

The Accounts Payable Services segment consists of the review of client accounts payable disbursements
to identify and recover overpayments. This operating segment includes accounts payable services provided to
retailers and wholesale distributors (the Company's historical client base) and accounts payable services
provided to various other types of business entities by the Company's Commercial Division. The Accounts
Payable Services operating segment conducts business in North America, South America, Europe, Australia,
Africa and Asia.

The French Taxation Services segment consists of audits or related disbursements to identify and recover
overpayments (primarily within France), and assisting business entities throughout Europe in securing
available grants.

Corporate support represents the unallocated portion of corporate general and administrative expenses
not speciÑcally attributable to Accounts Payable Services or French Taxation Services.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in Note 1. The
Company evaluates the performance of its operating segments based upon revenues and operating income.
Intersegment revenues are not signiÑcant.
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Segment information as of or for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 follows (in
thousands):

Accounts French
Payable Taxation Corporate
Services Services Support Total

2000
RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $255,110 $ 41,979 $ Ì $297,089
Operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,581 5,657 (40,336) 20,902
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 222,238 163,059 Ì 385,297
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,449 281 Ì 7,730
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21,646 6,677 557 28,880

1999
RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $246,378 $ 33,989 $ Ì $280,367
Operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 62,734 7,960 (27,228) 43,466
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 283,980 99,638 Ì 383,618
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,567 495 Ì 18,062
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,288 3,270 1,562 19,120

1998
RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $180,903 $ 25,956 $ Ì $206,859
Operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 42,787 6,203 (20,052) 28,938
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 318,681 30,170 Ì 348,851
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,688 940 Ì 17,628
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,782 382 1,039 11,203

The following table presents revenues by country based upon the location of clients served (in
thousands):

2000 1999 1998

United StatesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $194,124 $199,945 $147,232
France ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41,991 33,259 26,265
United Kingdom ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,506 19,912 13,540
Canada ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,358 12,212 11,285
Mexico ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,703 5,945 3,568
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,407 9,094 4,969

$297,089 $280,367 $206,859

The following table presents long-lived assets by country based on location of the asset (in thousands):

2000 1999 1998

United StatesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $192,696 $216,137 $164,369
France ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 68,649 53,607 39,483
United Kingdom ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 782 569 562
Canada ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 503 623 305
Mexico ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 471 264 94
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,583 6,400 8,780

$266,684 $277,600 $213,593
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(14) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, receivables, notes payable to bank, accounts payable
and accrued expenses, accrued business acquisition consideration, accrued payroll and related expenses, and
deferred tax recovery audit revenue approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

The fair values of each of the Company's long-term debt instruments are based on the amount of future
cash Öows associated with each instrument discounted using the Company's current borrowing rate for similar
debt instruments of comparable maturity. The estimated fair value of the Company's long-term debt
instruments at December 31, 2000 and 1999 was $140.0 million and $94.0 million, respectively, and the
carrying value of the Company's long-term debt at December 31, 2000 and 1999 was $155.0 million and $96.3
million, respectively.

Fair value estimates are made at a speciÑc point in time, based on relevant market information about the
Ñnancial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of
signiÑcant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could
signiÑcantly aÅect the estimates.
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(15) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 (in thousands, except for earnings (loss) per share information):

2000 1999 1998

Numerator:
Earnings from continuing operations before discontinued

operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7,336 $ 23,644 $16,937
Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (46,464) 3,792 (2,303)
Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (29,195) Ì

Net earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(39,128) $ (1,759) $14,634

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share Ì weighted-average

shares outstandingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,871 47,498 39,248
EÅect of dilutive securities:

Shares issuable for Groupe AP earnout ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 201 Ì Ì
Employee stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 737 1,882 1,128

Denominator for diluted earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49,809 49,380 40,376

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings from continuing operations before discontinued

operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.15 $ 0.50 $ 0.43
Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.95) 0.07 (0.06)
Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.61) Ì

Net earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.80) $ (0.04) $ 0.37

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings from continuing operations before discontinued

operations and cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.15 $ 0.48 $ 0.42
Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.94) 0.07 (0.06)
Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.59) Ì

Net earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.79) $ (0.04) $ 0.36

In 2000, 5.7 million stock options were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due
to their antidilutive eÅect.
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THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

(16) BUSINESS ACQUISITION AND RESTRUCTURING EXPENSES

Business acquisition and restructuring expenses included in selling, general and administrative expense
consisted of the following components (in thousands):

Year
Ended

December 31,
1999

Acquisition-related expenses incurred by all parties in connection with the August
1999 acquisition of PRSÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 948

Restructuring charge incurred in the fourth quarter of 1999 in connection with
combining the operations of PRS with those of the Company's existing Accounts
Payable Services commercial unit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,059

$2,007

The Company eÅected an acquisition of PRS which was completed in August 1999 and was accounted
for as a pooling-of-interests. As required under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America governing pooling-of-interests accounting, acquisition-related expenses incurred by the Company,
PRS and the shareholders of PRS were aggregated and charged to current operations in 1999. These expenses
of approximately $0.9 million consisted principally of investment banking fees, legal and accounting fees. The
Company combined the operations of PRS with its existing Accounts Payable Services commercial unit in the
fourth quarter of 1999 and incurred a charge to operations of approximately $1.1 million to provide for certain
employee severance payments and the costs of closing duplicative or unnecessary oÇce facilities.
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

PART III

Pursuant to Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required in Items 10 through 13 is
incorporated by reference from the Company's deÑnitive proxy statement, which is expected to be Ñled
pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before April 20, 2001.

PART IV

ITEM 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Documents Ñled as part of the report:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the following consolidated Ñnancial information included herein, see Index on Page 29.

Independent Auditors' Reports ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30, 31
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years ended December 31, 2000,

1999 and 1998 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2000 and 1999ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 33
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the Years ended December 31,

2000, 1999 and 1998 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2000,

1999 and 1998 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 36

(2) Financial Statement Schedule:

Schedule II Ì Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 61

(3) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description

*2.12 Ì Share Purchase Agreement dated as of August 19, 1999 among the Registrant, the Vendors
and Mr. Nathan Kirsh (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K Ñled on September 2, 1999).

3.1 Ì Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
to Registrant's Form 8-A/A Ñled August 9, 2000).

3.2 Ì Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Registrant's
Form 8-A/A Ñled August 9, 2000).

4.1 Ì Specimen Common Stock CertiÑcate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's
March 26, 1996 registration statement number 333-1086 on Form S-1).

4.2 Ì See Restated Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Registrant, Ñled as Exhibits 3.1 and
3.2, respectively.

4.3 Ì Rights Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2000 between Registrant and Rights Agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled
August 9, 2000).

10.1 Ì 1996 Stock Option Plan dated as of January 25, 1996, together with Forms of Non-qualiÑed
Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's March 26,
1996 registration statement number 333-1086 on Form S-1).
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.2 Ì Form of IndemniÑcation Agreement between the Registrant and the Directors and certain
oÇcers of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Registrant's
March 26, 1996 registration statement number 333-1086 on Form S-1).

10.3 Ì First Amendment dated March 7, 1997 to Employment Agreement between Registrant and
John M. Cook (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1996).

10.4 Ì Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated September 17, 1997 between The
ProÑt Recovery Group International I, Inc. and Mr. John M. Cook (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
1997).

10.5 Ì Lease Agreement dated January 30, 1998 between Wildwood Associates and The ProÑt
Recovery Group International I, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

10.6 Ì Sublease dated October 29, 1993, between The ProÑt Recovery Group I, Inc. and
International Business Machines Corporation (incorporated by Reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
Registrant's March 26, 1996 registration statement number 333-1086 on Form S-1).

10.7 Ì Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement dated July 29, 1998 among Bank of America,
N.A., formerly NationsBank, N.A., as Agent for the Lenders, The ProÑt Recovery Group
International, Inc., and certain guarantors named therein (incorporated by reference to the
Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2000).

10.8 Ì Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated July 29, 1998 among Bank of America, N.A.,
formerly NationsBank, N.A., as Agent for the Lenders, The ProÑt Recovery Group
International, Inc., and certain guarantors named therein (incorporated by reference to the
Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2000).

10.9 Ì Description of 2001-2005 Compensation Arrangement between Registrant and Mr. John M.
Cook. 

10.10 Ì Employment Agreement between Registrant and Mr. Robert G. Kramer; Compensation
Agreement between Registrant and Mr. Kramer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38
to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

10.11 Ì Syndication Amendment and Assignment dated as of September 17, 1998 and among the
Registrant, certain of subsidiaries of the Registrant and various banking institutions; Credit
Agreement dated as of July 29, 1998 among the Registrant, certain subsidiaries of the
Registrant and various banking institutions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1998).

10.12 Ì Sub-Sublease agreement dated August 19, 1998 by and between a subsidiary of the Registrant
and Manhattan Associates, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1998).

10.13 Ì Lease agreement dated July 17, 1998 by and between Wildwood Associates and a subsidiary
of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 1998).

10.14 Ì The ProÑt Recovery Group International Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.5 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
1998).

10.15 Ì Description of The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc. Executive Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended September 30, 1998).
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.16 Ì Description of Compensation Arrangement between Mr. Donald E. Ellis, Jr. and Registrant,
dated January 15, 2001.

10.17 Ì Description of 2000 Compensation Arrangement between Mr. Mark C. Perlberg and
Registrant, dated January 7, 2000.

10.18 Ì Form of The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc. Stock Award Agreement Ì Ratable
Vesting.

10.19 Ì Form of The ProÑt Recovery Group International, Inc. Stock Award Agreement Ì CliÅ
Vesting.

10.20 Ì Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated July 29, 1998 among Bank of America, N.A.,
formerly NationsBank, N.A., as Agent for the Lenders, The ProÑt Recovery Group
International, Inc. and certain guarantors named therein.

**10.21 Ì Letter Agreement dated May 25, 1995 between Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's March 26, 1996 registration
statement number 333-1086 on Form S-1).

***10.22 Ì Services Agreement dated April 7, 1993 between Registrant and Kmart Corporation as
amended by Addendum dated January 28, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to
Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

10.23 Ì Description of 2001 compensation arrangement between Registrant and Mr. John M. Toma.

10.24 Ì Non-qualiÑed Stock Option Agreement between Mr. Donald E. Ellis, Jr. and the Registrant
dated October 26, 2000.

10.25 Ì Description of 2001 Compensation Arrangement between Mr. Mark C. Perlberg and the
Registrant.

10.26 Ì Description of 2001 Compensation Arrangement between Mr. Robert A. Kramer and the
Registrant.

10.27 Ì Discussion of Management and Professional Incentive Plan.

10.28 Ì Amendment to 2000 Compensation Agreement between Mr. Mark C. Perlberg and Registrant,
dated October 30, 2000.

21.1 Ì Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Ì Consent of KPMG LLP.

23.2 Ì Consent of ERNST & YOUNG Audit.

* In accordance with Item 601 (b)(2) of Regulation S-K, the schedules have been omitted and a list
brieÖy describing the schedules is contained at the end of the Exhibit. The Company will furnish
supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule to the Commission upon request.

** ConÑdential treatment pursuant to 17 CFR ÛÛ 200.80 and 230.406 has been granted regarding certain
portions of the indicated Exhibit, which portions have been Ñled separately with the Commission.

*** ConÑdential treatment pursuant to 17 CFR ÛÛ 200.80 and 240.24b-2 has been granted regarding certain
portions of the indicated Exhibit, which portions have been Ñled separately with the Commission.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

The registrant Ñled one report on Form 8-K during the quarter ended December 31, 2000:

(1) Form 8-K describing the resignation of two executive oÇcers was Ñled on November 7, 2000.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THE PROFIT RECOVERY GROUP
INTERNATIONAL, INC.

March 27, 2001 By: /s/ JOHN M. COOK

John M. Cook

Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive OÇcer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ JOHN M. COOK Chairman of the Board and March 27, 2001
Chief Executive OÇcerJohn M. Cook

(Principal Executive OÇcer)

/s/ DONALD E. ELLIS, JR. Executive Vice President Ì March 27 2001
Finance, Chief Financial OÇcerDonald E. Ellis, Jr.

and Treasurer
(Principal Financial OÇcer)

/s/ ALLISON ADEN Vice President Ì Finance March 27, 2001
(Principal Accounting OÇcer)Allison Aden

/s/ STANLEY B. COHEN Director March 27, 2001

Stanley B. Cohen

/s/ MARC S. EISENBERG Director March 27, 2001

Marc S. Eisenberg

/s/ JONATHAN GOLDEN Director March 27, 2001

Jonathan Golden

/s/ GARTH H. GREIMANN Director March 27, 2001

Garth H. Greimann

/s/ FRED W.I. LACHOTZKI Director March 27, 2001

Fred W.I. Lachotzki

/s/ E. JAMES LOWREY Director March 27, 2001

E. James Lowrey

/s/ THOMAS S. ROBERTSON Director March 27, 2001

Thomas S. Robertson

/s/ JOHN M. TOMA Vice Chairman and Director March 27, 2001

John M. Toma

/s/ JACKIE M. WARD Director March 27, 2001

Jackie M. Ward
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SCHEDULE II Ì VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000, 1999 AND 1998
(In thousands)

Additions Deductions

Balance at Charge to Credited to Balance at
Beginning Costs and Accounts End of

Description of Year Expenses Acquisitions Receivable Year

2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,624 $2,725 $ Ì $(1,106) $5,243
Deferred tax valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,250 $ 294 $ Ì $ Ì $1,544

1999
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,858 $ 346 $ 569 $(1,149) $3,624
Deferred tax valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 720 $ 530 $ Ì $ Ì $1,250

1998
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $4,087 $ (229) $3,858
Deferred tax valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 720 $ Ì $ Ì $ 720
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